THE ROLE OF c-JUN N-TERMINAL KINASE (JNK) AND TUMOUR PROTEIN (p53) IN

HIV ASSOCIATED PRE-ECLAMPSIA

By

Yazira Pillay

213515235

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF MEDICAL SCIENCE

in the

Discipline of Optics and Imaging

College of Health Sciences

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Durban

2017

PREFACE

This study represents original work by the author and has not been submitted in any other form to another University. Where use was made of the work of others, it has been duly acknowledged in the text.

The research described in this dissertation was carried out in the Optics & Imaging Centre, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa.

Web

Thaicke

Yazira Pillay

Student number: 213515235

Professor T Naicker

Supervisor

DECLARATION

I, Yazira Pillay declare that:

- (i) The research reported in this dissertation, except where otherwise indicated is my original work.
- (ii) This dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.
- (iii) This dissertation does not contain other person's data, pictures, graphs or other information,
- (iv) Unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- (v) This dissertation does not contain other persons writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other sources have been quoted, then:
 - a) Their words have been rewritten but the general information attributed by them has been referenced.
 - b) Where their exact words have been used their writing had been placed inside quotation marks and referenced.
 - (v) This dissertation does not contain text, graphics, or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged and the source being detailed in the dissertation and the reference sections.

MA

Signed: _____

Date: _____18-12-2017_____

DEDICATION

To my parents and brother, Tariq.

Thank you for your endless love, support and encouragement.

I love you. Dad, Mom and Tariq.

FUNDING

- Funding for this project was received from the College of Health Science (Masters Scholarship), University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- The project was additionally supported by the publication fund of Prof T Naicker.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to:

- Prof T Naicker, for her continuous guidance, invaluable advice and help. You have not only been an excellent supervisor, but an incredible role model.
- > Dr Margaret Alese for her laboratory assistance.
- > Dr Frederick Odun-Ayo for his laboratory assistance.
- Miss S Thakoordeen, Miss P Nydoo, and Miss L Nandlal for all their assistance throughout the year.
- > The Optics and Imaging Centre.
- > To my entire family for their kindness, love and support.

PREFACE	i
DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
FUNDING	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF TABLES	xi
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.0 BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW	2
1.1 Maternal Mortality	2
1.2.1 HIV and women	3
1.3 Pre-Eclampsia	3
1.3.1 Complications of pre-eclampsia	4
1.3.2 The placenta	4
1.3.3 Placentation	4
1.3.4 Pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia	5
1.3.5 The role of the immune system in pre-eclampsia	6
1.3.6 Immune maladaptation of pre-eclampsia and HIV infection	7
1.4 Oxidative stress	8
1.5 Apoptosis and apoptotic pathways	9
1.6 p53	10
1.6.1 Activation of p53 antigen	10
1.6.2 Apoptotic pathways of p53 antigen	11
1.6.3 Association of p53 in pre-eclampsia	12
1.7 c-JUN N-Terminal Kinase (JNK)	14
1.7.1 Activation of JNK	14
1.7.2 Signalling of JNK in the regulation of apoptosis	14
1.7.3 Association of JNK in Pre-eclampsia	15
1.8 Association of apoptosis in pre-eclampsia	17
1.9 Link between apoptosis and endothelial dysfunction	17
1.10 Aim and Objectives of this study	19
CHAPTER TWO	20
Abstract	23

Table of Contents

Introduction2	24
Methods and Materials2	26
Study Population2	26
Bio-Plex Multiplex Method2	26
Statistical Analysis2	27
Results2	27
Clinical Characteristics2	27
Median Fluorescent Intensity (MFI) of p53 and JNK2	28
Discussion3	32
Conclusion3	35
Declaration of Interest3	36
Acknowledgements3	36
Reference	37
CHAPTER THREE4	45
SYNTHESIS4	46
CHAPTER FOUR5	53
REFERENCE5	54
APPENDIX	72

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Human Immunodeficiency Virus	HIV
Highly active antiretroviral treatment	HAART
Pre-eclampsia	PE
Haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelets	HELLP
Human leukocyte antigen	HLA
Tumour necrosis factor	TNF
Reactive oxygen species	ROS
Apoptosis protease activating factor-1	APAF-1
Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins	IAPs
Syncytial nuclear aggregates	SNAs
Murine double minute 2	Mdm2
Bcl-2 homology domains	BH
Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization	MOMP
Responsive element	. RE
Mitogen activated protein kinases	MAPKs
c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase	JNK
Extracellular signal-regulated kinase	ERK
Activator protein-1	AP-1
Primary apoptosis signalling regulated kinase 1	ASK1
Hypoxia-reoxygenation	H/R

Syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membrane particles	STBMs
Streptavidin-phycoerythrin conjugate	SAPE
Median fluorescent intensity	MFI
Standard error mean	SEM
Early-onset pre-eclampsia	EOPE
Late-onset pre-eclampsia	LOPE

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER ONE

Figure 1. Normal vs Abnormal Placentation	6
Figure 2. Apoptosis Pathway in p53	13
Figure 3. JNK apoptotic pathways	16
Figure 4. Sequence of events leading to pre-eclampsia development	18
CHAPTER TWO	
Figure 1. MFI of cell signalling factor p53	29-30
Figure 2. MFI of cell signalling factor JNK	31-32

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Patient demographics	28
Table 2. MFI of p53 and JNK across all study groups	32

ABSTRACT

Background: In pre-eclampsia, immune maladaptation to the foetal allograft results in impaired trophoblast invasion and defective spiral arterial remodelling with consequential placental oxidative stress. Placental apoptosis can be initiated by various stimuli including hypoxia and oxidative stress and is notably exaggerated in pre-eclampsia. This elevated apoptosis prevents normal replenishment of the syncytiotrophoblast, promotes syncytial degeneration and releases vasoactive or inflammatory factors into the maternal circulation thereby provoking the endothelial dysfunction seen in pre-eclampsia. Since the p53 antigen and JNK are important mediators of apoptosis we determined their expression in HIV associated pre-eclampsia.

Method: Blood samples were collected from normotensive pregnant and pre-eclamptic HIV infected and negative women. Buffy coat was extracted and a Bio-plex multiplex assay to quantify expression of phosphorylated-p53 and JNK.

Results: Based on pregnancy type, a significant difference in the expression of p53 was noted between the pre-eclamptic vs normotensive pregnant group regardless of HIV status (p=0.0162). Irrespective of pregnancy type, there was also a significant difference found between the HIV positive and HIV negative groups (p=0.0469). Furthermore, there was a significant difference in the expression of p53 between the HIV negative pre-eclamptic vs the HIV negative normotensive group and HIV infected normotensive *vs* the HIV negative pre-eclamptic group. Despite having no statistical significance (p=0.8701), the expression of JNK was found to be increased in the pre-eclamptic compared to the normotensive pregnant group. Similarly, based on HIV status, regardless of pregnancy type no statistical significance was found (p=0.2227), however, there was a decrease in the expression of JNK in the HIV positive compared to the HIV negative group.

Conclusion: These experiments demonstrate a significant increase in the expression of p53 with an upwards trend in the expression of JNK in pre-eclampsia, confirming their influence on trophoblast cell invasion in pre-eclampsia development. This increase in expression of p53 and JNK in pre-eclampsia, holds potential value as a risk indicator of pre-eclamptic development. In contrast, a significant down regulation of p53 with a downwards trend of JNK expression was noted in the HIV positive group, possibly due to immune reconstitution following HAART.

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Maternal Mortality

Globally, the rate of maternal mortality is high. Every day, there are about 830 maternal deaths due to pregnancy or childbirth related complications worldwide, with 99% of all maternal deaths occurring in developing countries (Alkema *et al.*, 2016). In 2015, it was estimated that approximately 303, 000 women died during and following pregnancy and childbirth, most of these deaths were preventable (Alkema *et al.*, 2016).

In South Africa, during 2011-2013 there were 4452 maternal deaths. The top three causes of maternal death were: non-pregnancy related infections (mainly HIV infected pregnant women), obstetric haemorrhage and hypertension which accounted for 34.7%, 15.8% and 14.8% maternal deaths respectively. Majority (67%) of the cases of maternal deaths emanating from hypertension was preventable (South African Department of Health, 2013).

1.2 HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection remains one of the leading health concerns in the world. In 2015, roughly 2.1 million new infections were reported worldwide, with a recent tally of 36.7 million people living with HIV infection (UNAIDS, 2016). In South Africa, the overall HIV prevalence rate is estimated to be 12.7%. For adults of reproductive age (15–49 years), an estimated 18.9% of the population is HIV infected (Statistics South Africa, 2016).

HIV is a retrovirus that can integrate its DNA into the host genome (Craigie and Bushman, 2012). The primary receptor for HIV-1 is CD4+. The CD4+ cell is expressed on the surface of T lymphocytes, monocytes, and macrophages (Février *et al.*, 2011). HIV can be transmitted through infected body fluids that come into contact with mucosal tissue, blood or broken skin (Deeks *et al.*, 2015). HIV causes progressive loss of CD4+ T cells, which results in a decline of cell-mediated immunity (Moir *et al.*, 2011, McCune, 2001). This renders the individual vulnerable to a range of opportunistic infections (Holmes *et al.*, 2006).

Management of HIV infection includes the use of multiple antiretroviral drugs. Highly active antiretroviral treatment (HAART), is a powerful therapy which suppresses HIV replication and allows partial restoration of CD4⁺ T cell populations. (Schmidt-Westhausen *et al.*, 2000, Ramirez-Amador *et al.*, 2003, Février *et al.*, 2011).

1.2.1 HIV and women

Currently, one-fifth of South African women in their reproductive ages are HIV infected (Statistics South Africa, 2016). Women are more likely to face increased tissue injury and due to their anatomy have a larger mucosal surface area, resulting in longer exposure times to pathogens and infectious fluid during sexual intercourse. Thus, the women have a higher physiological risk of infection (Ackermann and Klerk, 2002).

During pregnancy, the high levels of oestrogen and progesterone may alter the genital mucosa structure, alternatively it can cause immunological changes including increased mucosal lymphoid aggregates or the up-regulation in the expression of co-receptors that are involved with HIV infection (Chersich and Rees, 2008). HIV infection and hypertensive disorders of pregnancies, especially pre-eclampsia are important conditions in developing countries (Hall *et al.*, 2014).

1.3 Pre-Eclampsia

Pre-eclampsia (PE) is a condition specific to pregnancy that occurs after the 20t^h week of gestation (Silasi *et al.*, 2010) and is characterized by new-onset hypertension (high blood pressure), with proteinuria. PE is defined as a blood pressure reading of \geq 140/90 mmHg on two or more occasions after the 20th week of pregnancy with significant proteinuria >300mg/dl present in a 24-hour period (Davey and MacGillivray, 1988). It is estimated that 3-5% of all pregnancies are affected worldwide by PE, making it the most common pregnancy complication (Wang *et al.*, 2009), and a leading cause of perinatal and maternal morbidity and mortality (Levy, 2005).

Some of the risk factors of PE include; primigravidae, a maternal and paternal family history of PE, nulliparity as well as pre-existing metabolic disorders such as diabetes, chronic hypertension, obesity and kidney disease (Silasi *et al.*, 2010).

1.3.1 Complications of pre-eclampsia

Maternal complications of PE include; acute renal failure, placental abruption, seizures, pulmonary oedema and the HELLP (haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelets) syndrome (Wang *et al.*, 2009). When vascular dysfunction of the brain occurs, eclampsia can develop which is characterized by seizures (Coppage and Sibai, 2005). Complications which affect the developing foetus include; prematurity (Zhang *et al.*, 2007), intrauterine foetal growth restriction and an increased risk of perinatal death (Wang *et al.*, 2009). Increased maternal and foetal morbidity and mortality are largely due to a lack of predictive biomarkers and effective pharmaceutical interventions (Tannetta and Sargent, 2013). There is no treatment for PE currently, except early delivery of the placenta and the baby, however this increases the risk of neonatal morbidity and mortality (Williamson *et al.*, 2017).

1.3.2 The placenta

The placenta is fundamental to the pathogenesis of PE, as PE only occurs when the placenta is present, even when there is no foetus, as in a hydatidiform molar pregnancy. The maternal symptoms of PE usually resolve when the placenta is delivered (Naljayan, 2013). The placenta is a fetally-derived multifaceted organ which connects the developing foetus to the uterine wall providing nutrition, removal of waste products, performing endocrine functions and affording foetal protection from the maternal immune system (Gude *et al.*, 2004). Altered placental development and function can have repercussions on the foetus affecting its ability to cope with the intrauterine micro-environment (Gude *et al.*, 2004).

1.3.3 Placentation

During implantation, the secretion of hormones regulate growth factors, cytokines and adhesion molecules, thereby altering the endometrial surface and opening the implantation window. Following

attachment, the trophoblast layer of the blastocyst proliferates rapidly and differentiates (Gude *et al.*, 2004).

Cytotrophoblast cells differentiate into; the multinucleate syncytiotrophoblast and the invasive extravillous trophoblast cell populations. Syncytiotrophoblasts cover the surface of the placenta and allow foetal-maternal exchange, while also secreting hormones into the maternal circulation necessary for the maintenance and immunological adaptation of pregnancy (Bansal *et al.*, 2012, Gude *et al.*, 2004). It has been proposed that fusion between the cytotrophoblasts and the syncytiotrophoblast is a means of replenishment of the syncytiotrophoblast (Sharp *et al.*, 2010). The extravillous trophoblasts invade the uterine spiral arteries of the decidua and myometrium in a set timed sequence, replacing the endothelial layer of the maternal spiral arteries and transforming them from small, high-resistance vessels to highcalibre capacitance, low resistance vessels that can sustain the growth of the foetus (Meekins *et al.*, 1994) (Figure 1).

In normal placental development, intramural cytotrophoblasts differentiate from an epithelial phenotype to an endothelial phenotype by pseudovasculogenesis (Zhou *et al.*, 1997). In PE, failure to adopt an invasive endothelial phenotype in cytotrophoblasts is observed (Zhou *et al.*, 1997).

1.3.4 Pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia

The exact pathophysiology of PE remains unknown. In PE, the physiological conversion of the spiral arteries is incomplete and is limited to the decidua (Meekins *et al.*, 1994). Failure of trophoblast invasion results in reduced uteroplacental perfusion which leads to the placenta becoming ischemic (Levy, 2005).

Retention of vasoreactivity of the spiral arteries, could result in intermittent perfusion of the intervillous space, fluctuating oxygen tension, and ischemia-reperfusion injury of the villi (Hung *et al.*, 2001). The re-established blood flow seen after placental reperfusion injury releases cytokines as well as other inflammatory factors and damaging levels of reactive oxygen species (Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 1. Normal vs Abnormal Placentation. In normal placentation (Left) the extravillous cytotrophoblasts invade the uterine spiral arteries of the decidua and myometrium, replacing the endothelial layer of the maternal spiral arteries, transforming them from small, high-resistance vessels to high-calibre capacitance vessels that can supply the necessary placental perfusion to sustain the growth of the foetus. In PE (Right) remodelling of the spiral arteries is inadequate and limited to the superficial decidua, with the myometrial segments remaining narrow. Figure adapted from (Lam *et al.*, 2005).

1.3.5 The role of the immune system in pre-eclampsia

A common theory to explain the disease mechanism of PE is immune maladaptation to the foetal allograft (Dekker and Sibai, 1998). An exacerbated maternal inflammatory response directed against foreign foetal antigens can result in impaired trophoblast invasion and defective spiral arterial remodelling (Matthiesen *et al.*, 2005).

Contact between paternal antigens in the semen and the female genital tract through sexual intercourse allows for immune tolerance. However, when there is a new partner the risk of PE increases due to insufficient duration of exposure to sperm (Verwoerd *et al.*, 2002, Hall, 2007b).

The fetus and placenta is regarded as a semi-allograft to the mother's immune system and therefore can produce an immune rejection response (Aagaard-Tillery *et al.*, 2006). During early stages of pregnancy, there is an increased influx of macrophages and lymphocytes into the decidua at the maternal-foetal

interface (Bulmer and Johnson, 1985). A common theory is that human leukocyte antigen (HLA) G has an immunologically permissive function of the antigenic mismatch between mother and foetus, and this protects the developing foetus from these cells (Le Bouteiller *et al.*, 2003). Defective HLA-G expression occurs in the extravillous cytotrophoblast of pre-eclamptic placentas. Serum levels of soluble HLA-G1 isoform involved in the downregulation of T cell and NK cell activity by the induction of apoptotic events, are decreased in pre-eclamptic patients (Le Bouteiller *et al.*, 2003).

Notably, the Fas-FasL system could have a key role in the protection of the foetus from the maternal immune system (Pearson, 2002). Fas is a surface protein of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily and can induce cell apoptosis upon binding to the ligand FasL (Griffith *et al.*, 1995). FasL is expressed on the trophoblast of first-trimester placentas, and the Fas antigen is localized on decidual cells, specifically maternal leukocytes (Runic *et al.*, 1996, Uckan *et al.*, 1997). *In-vitro*, trophoblasts expressing FasL can induce lymphocyte apoptosis when exposed to activated lymphocytes (Hammer *et al.*, 1999). In PE, decidual cells have a lower expression of Fas antigen (Ishihara *et al.*, 2002), and a lower expression of FasL (Allaire *et al.*, 2000) is noted on trophoblast cells resulting in the diminished deletion of lymphocytes in the decidua with increased apoptosis and trophoblast damage (Levy, 2005). As a consequence of exaggerated apoptosis of the invading trophoblasts, limited invasion of the spiral arteries occurs (Levy, 2005).

1.3.6 Immune maladaptation of pre-eclampsia and HIV infection

In contrast to HIV infection, an up-regulation of the immune response occurs in normal pregnancy, however this up-regulation is exacerbated in PE producing an excessive maternal inflammatory response. Therefore, in HIV associated PE, a neutralisation of the immune response is expected (Hall *et al.*, 2014). Studies are however conflicting and report an increased, decreased and a neutralisation of PE development in HIV associated pregnancies (Boyajian *et al.*, 2012, Hall, 2007a, Kalumba *et al.*, 2013, Machado *et al.*, 2014, Wimalasundera *et al.*, 2002, Hall *et al.*, 2014).

In 2002, Wimalasundera and colleagues found that HIV-1 infected women who received no antiretroviral therapy had a significantly lower rate of PE development compared to HIV infected

women who were on triple antiretroviral therapy (Wimalasundera *et al.*, 2002). They therefore proposed that women with untreated HIV infection are protected against PE development due to their immunocompromised state, they suggest that these women are unlikely to induce an exaggerated inflammatory response during pregnancy due to the progressive loss of CD4+ T lymphocytes. The administration of HAART in HIV infected women re-establishes the mother's immune response to foetal antigens, and thus exacerbates the risk of PE development (Wimalasundera *et al.*, 2002).

Similarly, a cohort study by Suy and colleagues concluded that HIV infected women receiving HAART prior to pregnancy was associated with a higher risk of developing PE and was associated with greater foetal mortality (Suy *et al.*, 2006). In contrast, PE and gestational hypertension were less prevalent in women receiving mono- or triple anti-retroviral therapy (Hall *et al.*, 2014).

Conflicting results were found in a study by Sansone and colleagues where HIV infected women had an increased risk of PE development, when receiving HAART (13%) and not receiving HAART (4.6%) compared to HIV uninfected women (4.1%) (Sansone *et al.*, 2016). Whereas in a matched cohort study by Boyajian *et al*, no difference in the risk of developing PE was demonstrated between HIV infected women on HAART versus uninfected women (Boyajian *et al.*, 2012). In South Africa, approximately 30% of antenatal patients are infected with HIV (Sebitloane *et al.*, 2009). It is therefore rational to study the effect of HIV infection on PE development.

1.4 Oxidative stress

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) include; nitric oxide (NO), superoxide (O_2^{-}), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and hydroxyl radical (\cdot OH). These are signalling molecules implicated in the regulation of several functions in human physiology and are controlled by anti-oxidant host defences (Kalyanaraman, 2013). An increase in ROS generation during gestation is a physiological requisite (Yang *et al.*, 2012). ROS are known as 'secondary messengers' in intracellular signalling cascades where the molecules control cell growth, proliferation and apoptosis (Thannickal and Fanburg, 2000). A state of oxidative stress is observed when the relative pro-oxidant species is higher than the antioxidant defences (Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014). The increased generation of ROS could eventually trigger a redox signalling process that induces cell apoptosis (Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014).

1.5 Apoptosis and apoptotic pathways

Apoptosis (programmed cell death), is vital in the normal development of the placenta however, when exaggerated it is associated with placental disease (Sharp *et al.*, 2010). Apoptosis can be initiated via the extrinsic or intrinsic pathway. The extrinsic pathway is regulated by members of the TNF death receptor family (Straszewski-Chavez *et al.*, 2005). Cellular stresses like DNA damage and ROS can initiate the intrinsic pathway. Activation of the intrinsic pathway leads to an altered mitochondrial membrane permeability due to an imbalance in the relationship of pro- and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (Cory and Adams, 2002). Anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 members include; Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Mcl-1 whilst pro-apoptotic members include; Bax, Bak, tBid, Bim, Puma, Noxa and Bad (Vaseva and Moll, 2009). Bax and Bak convert into pore forming proteins by oligomerizing in the mitochondrial outer membrane. The lipid pores formed release fatal proteins from the mitochondrial inter-membranous space (Kroemer *et al.*, 2007).

tBid and Bim are activators which trigger mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) by the direct stimulation of Bax and Bak oligomerization (Vaseva and Moll, 2009). Puma, Noxa and Bad are de-repressors which inhibit the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members allowing the release of proapoptotic members *e.g.*, Bax or tBid from Bcl-xL (Vaseva and Moll, 2009, Kroemer *et al.*, 2007).

An increase in mitochondrial permeability results in pore formation and the leakage of cytochrome-c into the cytosol (Li *et al.*, 1997). Cytochrome-c binds the apoptosis protease activating factor-1 (APAF-1) (Ott *et al.*, 2002) and the initiator caspase 9 in the cytosol forming the apoptosome complex (Chinnaiyan, 1999). This stimulates caspase 9, which activates the effector caspases. Furthermore, the protein Smac/DIABLO is also released from the mitochondrion into the cytosol which block the effects

of a group of anti-apoptotic proteins known as inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs), thereby indirectly promoting apoptosis (van Loo *et al.*, 2002).

Both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways end in a terminal pathway involving the cleavage and activation of caspase-3, 6, and 7 initiating cell destruction by the activation of DNAses and cleaving DNA repair enzymes (Sharp *et al.*, 2010, Tewari *et al.*, 1995, Koh *et al.*, 2005). Important cell signalling molecules involved in the regulation of apoptosis include tumour protein p53 (Prives and Hall, 1999) and c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase (JNK) (Lin and Dibling, 2002, Liu J and A., 2005).

1.6 p53

p53 is a transcription factor (Lane, 1992) mostly known for its activity as a tumour suppressor factor, however, it can also help to control a wide range of cellular processes and diseases. p53 has a critical role in the determination of cell fate by the activation of growth arrest, cellular senescence or apoptotic pathways (Brooks and Gu, 2010).

p53 is an unstable protein with a short half-life, it is stabilized by hypoxia and oxidative stress (Levy, 2005). Under normal conditions, the expression of p53 is kept at low levels to protect the cell from any uncontrolled activity. The ubiquitin ligase, murine double minute 2 (Mdm2) regulates the transcriptional activity of p53 by the direct inhibitory binding to p53, ubiquitination and enzymatic degradation of p53 by the proteasome as well as the nuclear export of p53 to the cytoplasm (Haupt *et al.*, 1997, Kubbutat *et al.*, 1997, Momand *et al.*, 1992, Levine, 1997, Lu *et al.*, 2000). p53 is further controlled by acting as a transcription factor for Mdm2, this promotes its own inhibition as part of an essential negative feedback loop (Harris and Levine, 2005).

1.6.1 Activation of p53 antigen

Cellular p53 increases rapidly post exposure to a variety of stressors including: heat, hypoxia, hyperoxia, and cytokines (Harris and Levine, 2005). These stresses promote DNA damage thereby activating repair enzyme activities (Harris and Levine, 2005). Following DNA damage, p53 becomes phosphorylated at several sites. ATM, JNK and ATR are some of the kinases able to phosphorylate

residues within the N-terminus of p53 *in-vitro* (Ashcroft *et al.*, 1999). Phosphorylation of the N-terminus allows for the stabilization of p53 by inhibiting the p53-Mdm2 interaction (Kruse and Gu, 2008) which allows for the expression of cellular p53 to increase. A series of post translational events need to occur for the activation of p53, of which phosphorylation may be a part of (Brooks and Gu, 2010). The mechanism by which p53 either promotes cell growth arrest or apoptosis is poorly understood. Evidence suggests that the *in-vivo* function of p53 depends on the type and severity of damage that occurs (Brooks and Gu, 2010).

1.6.2 Apoptotic pathways of p53 antigen

p53 can induce apoptosis by the activation of gene expression in the nucleus, or by directly permeabilizing mitochondria in the cytoplasm (Wang *et al.*, 2007). p53 is implicated in the induction of both the extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways (Susan Haupt *et al.*, 2003).

1.6.2.1 The role of p53 within the nucleus

Activated p53 translocates from the cytosol to the nucleus (Liang and Clarke, 2001). p53 binds to a specific DNA target sequence, the responsive element (RE). Genes which contain the RE regulate the cell cycle and control cell fate (el-Deiry *et al.*, 1992, Funk *et al.*, 1992).

Key targets of p53 include genes for pro-apoptotic proteins; Bax, Noxa, Puma, Bid and APAF-1 (Sharp, 2011). p53 activates the intrinsic mitochondrial apoptotic pathway via the induction of the expression of at least three Bcl-2 pro-apoptotic members, disrupting the balance and allowing a shift towards pro-apoptotic effects (Susan Haupt *et al.*, 2003). (Figure 2).

1.6.2.2 Mitochondrial effects of p53

Activated p53 can initiate apoptosis without transcription or protein synthesis by migrating to the mitochondria. A proposed mechanism for this involves the direct interaction of p53 with the mitochondria (Mihara *et al.*, 2003) where it acts like a pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 member either as a direct activator of Bax and/or Bak or as a de-repressor (Green and Kroemer, 2009).

Eventually the activation of p53 determines whether a cell enters a state of cellular senescence for DNA repair (Bhana *et al.*, 2008, Chen *et al.*, 2006, Dahm-Daphi *et al.*, 2005, Sengupta *et al.*, 2003) or p53 initiates a cell death pathway leading to apoptosis. While controlled levels of p53 activity is needed for normal cell function, abnormal activation levels could be responsible for a variety of disease pathologies (Sharp, 2011) (Figure 2).

1.6.3 Association of p53 in pre-eclampsia

Placental p53 is present in normal pregnancy and in gestational trophoblast disease (Shi *et al.*, 1996, Cheung *et al.*, 1999). p53 has been found in cytotrophoblasts but hardly ever seen in the syncytiotrophoblast (Quenby S *et al.*, 1998, Haidacher S *et al.*, 1995). Whereas, Mdm2 is expressed within the cytotrophoblast and syncytiotrophoblast (Cheung *et al.*, 1999, Fulop *et al.*, 1998, Heazell *et al.*, 2008b). An upregulation of p53 was found in placental and placental bed samples of pregnancies complicated by PE, with associated exaggerated apoptosis (Levy *et al.*, 2002).

p53 expression in explanted human placental tissue is increased by hypoxia and is associated with exaggerated trophoblast apoptosis, which might reflect the *in-vivo* condition (Heazell and Crocker, 2008). Furthermore, in response to decreased oxygen tension and ROS, there is an associated increase in p53 expression and the induction of apoptosis (Heazell *et al.*, 2009). This suggests that hypoxia and ROS could be the causative mechanism in exaggerated placental apoptosis by the induction of p53 activity in PE (Crocker, 2007) and that increased p53 expression in the placenta possibly plays a pathogenic role in PE development (Heazell *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 2: Apoptosis Pathway in p53.Under normal circumstances p53 is bound inactive to Mdm2 within the cytoplasm. Post exposure to stress can cause the dissociation of p53 from Mdm2, allowing the phosphorylation and translocation of p53 to the nucleus. P53 forms a tetramer within the nucleus which facilitates DNA binding and the initiation of transcription of pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bax, Noxa, Puma, Bid and APAF-1. Alternatively, activated p53 could translocate to the mitochondria where p53 has been suggested to act as a direct activator of Bax and/or Bak or as a de-repressor. This eventually leads to formation of the apoptosome and apoptosis takes place. Adapted from (Heazell and Crocker, 2008).

1.7 JNK

Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are mediators in signal transduction pathways and are also involved in the differentiation of villous trophoblast (Qi and Elion, 2005, Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2009). c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase (JNK) is a subfamily of the MAPK superfamily (Liu J and A., 2005). They are associated with the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. JNKs has a vital role in the mediation of apoptotic signalling (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). Studies have shown JNKs can be activated by various stimuli which include; growth factors (Hibi *et al.*, 1993), cytokines (Westwick *et al.*, 1994), and stress factors (Cano *et al.*, 1994).

JNK is able to phosphorylate and regulate the activity of transcription factors such as; c-Jun, ATF2, Elk-1, p53 and c-Myc (Chang and Karin, 2001, Davis, 2000, Karin, 1995, Lin, 2003) as well as other factors like the members of the Bcl-2 family (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Bim and BAD), when exposed to a wide range of extracellular stimuli (Liu J and A., 2005).

1.7.1 Activation of JNK

Specific stimuli trigger the activation of MAP3Ks, a member of MAP3K is primary apoptosis signalling regulated kinase 1 (ASK1) (Hayakawa *et al.*, 2012) which can be activated by various stresses including, oxidative stress (Cindrova-Davies, 2009). This then phosphorylates and activates the MAP2K isoforms MKK4 and MKK7, which in turn phosphorylates and activates JNK. A key target of the JNK signalling pathway is the activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factor, which is activated partly due to the phosphorylation of c-Jun and associated molecules (Weston and Davis, 2002).

1.7.2 Signalling of JNK in the regulation of apoptosis

JNK signalling is a contributor to apoptotic signalling via phosphorylation of pro-apoptotic proteins. JNK participates in both the extrinsic and intrinsic signalling pathways that initiate apoptosis and can initiate apoptosis by nuclear and mitochondrial signalling (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008).

1.7.2.1 Nuclear signalling of JNK in the regulation of apoptosis

Following activation, the phosphorylated JNK translocates to the nucleus and phosphorylates and transactivates c-Jun (Davis, 2000, Chang and Karin, 2001). The phosphorylation of c-Jun results in the formation of AP-1. AP-1 is involved in the transcription of many proteins, including pro-apoptotic proteins (Dhanasekaran and L Johnson, 2007, Raman *et al.*, 2007, Turjanski *et al.*, 2007). The JNK-AP-1 pathway is associated with the increased expression of pro-apoptotic genes like, TNF- α , Fas-L, and Bak (Fan and Chambers, 2001). Therefore, JNK can promote apoptosis by the increased expression of pro-apoptotic genes (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). Studies have shown that JNK can modulate the expression of p53 directly or indirectly and can positively influence apoptotic cell death (Saha *et al.*, 2012).

The phosphorylation of p53 at Ser6 by JNK stabilizes p53 by inhibiting ubiquitin-mediated degradation (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). Due to p53 being involved in the expression of pro-apoptotic proteins including Bax and PUMA, it is possible that the apoptotic pathway that is activated by JNK involves the upregulation of pro-apoptotic genes mediated by p53 (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). (Figure 3).

1.7.2.2 Mitochondrial signalling of JNK in the regulation of apoptosis.

JNK has a vital role in the modulation of the functions of the pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins found in the mitochondria. After activation by apoptotic stimuli, JNK translocates to the mitochondria (Kharbanda *et al.*, 2000, Chauhan *et al.*, 2003) where it modulates the activity of pro-apoptotic BH3- only subgroup Bim and Bmf (Lei and Davis, 2003) and also promotes apoptosis by the inhibition of anti-apoptotic proteins like Bcl2 (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). (Figure 3).

1.7.3 Association of JNK in Pre-eclampsia

A study conducted by (Xiong *et al.*, 2013) showed that an increase in the phosphorylation of p38 and JNK occur in human placental explants when exposed to a range of PE associated stress factors such as hypoxia and inflammatory cytokines. *In vitro* experiments involving placental villous explants exposed to hypoxia-reoxygenation (H/R) activates p38 and JNK stress pathways, and is associated with the

induction of apoptosis and inflammation (Cindrova-Davies *et al.*, 2007). Also, it has been shown that *in vitro*, H/R and H_2O_2 treatment of placental villi can induce the activation of ASK1 (Cindrova-Davies, 2009).



Figure 3: JNK apoptotic pathways. Specific stimuli trigger the activation of MAP3Ks (ASK-1), this then phosphorylates and activates the MAP2K isoforms MKK4 and MKK7, this in turn phosphorylates and activates JNK. Phosphorylated JNK translocates to the nucleus and phosphorylates and transactivates c- Jun which results in the formation of AP-1. The JNK-AP-1 pathway is associated with the increased expression of pro-apoptotic genes like Bak. Alternatively, JNK translocates to the mitochondria where it modulates the activity of pro-apoptotic BH3-only subgroup Bim. JNK can also promote apoptosis by the inhibition of anti-apoptotic proteins. Adapted from (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008).

1.8 Association of apoptosis in pre-eclampsia

In severe PE, cell turnover is dysregulated with a decrease in syncytiotrophoblast area (Huppertz and Kingdom, 2004), increased apoptosis (Leung *et al.*, 2001, Allaire *et al.*, 2000, Heazell *et al.*, 2008a), and an increased density of syncytial nuclear aggregates (SNAs) (Jones and Fox, 1980, Heazell *et al.*, 2007). Morphometric image analysis has shown an increase in trophoblast cell apoptosis in PE (Naicker *et al.*, 2013). Studies have shown that exaggerated apoptosis can be reproduced in trophoblast *in vitro* by exposure to hypoxia (Crocker *et al.*, 2004) and reactive oxygen species (Moll *et al.*, 2007).

The role of enhanced apoptosis in the pathology of PE remains unclear. It could eventually prevent replenishment of syncytiotrophoblast, increase syncytial degeneration and release vasoactive or inflammatory factors into the maternal circulation (Sharp *et al.*, 2014).

1.9 Link between apoptosis and endothelial dysfunction

The relationship between placental ischemia and endothelial cell dysfunction in the pathogenesis of PE remains unknown. Systemic endothelial damage seems to be the main theme in the signs and symptoms seen in PE. A theory proposed by (Redman and Sargent, 2000) suggests that systemic endothelial damage is caused by the microdeposition of syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membrane particles (STBMs) which can be detected in the plasma of normal pregnancies but are increased in women with PE (Nelson, 1996, Huppertz B *et al.*, 1998). Increased syncytiotrophoblast deportation in PE could be produced by increased apoptosis at the syncytium (Huppertz B *et al.*, 1998, Nelson, 1996)

When STBMs are present within the maternal circulation, this has been associated with an altered immunological response, in specific, neutrophil activation (Von Dadelszen *et al.*, 1999, Gupta *et al.*, 2006). Maternal levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 are increased in PE (Luppi P and JA, 2006). *In-vitro*, STBMs can disrupt endothelial cells, supporting the connection between placental apoptosis, syncytial microparticle release and the maternal vascular complications, typical of the pre-eclamptic syndrome (Cockell *et al.*, 1997, Hoegh *et al.*, 2006). (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Sequence of events leading to pre-eclampsia.

The exact pathophysiology of PE remains unknown. A common theory used to explain the disease mechanism is immune maladaptation leads to abnormal placentation which in turn causes reduced perfusion which can lead to oxidative stress. This results in an increase of regulatory components of apoptosis p53 and JNK, which consequently results in exaggerated apoptosis. This has been proposed to result in endothelial dysfunction and the clinical signs and symptoms of pre-eclampsia. With regards to HIV associated PE, this can neutralize the immune system.

1.10 Aim and Objectives of this study

Aim of study

To compare and contrast JNK and p53 levels across the study population based on pregnancy type (preeclamptic *vs* normotensive) and HIV status (HIV Positive *vs* HIV negative).

Specific Objectives

•To determine the level of JNK in HIV associated normotensive and pre-eclamptic pregnant patients with the use of a BioPlex Multiplex immunoassay.

•To determine the level of p53 in HIV associated normotensive and pre-eclamptic pregnant patients with the use of a BioPlex Multiplex immunoassay.

•To compare and contrast JNK and p53 levels across the study population based on pregnancy type (pre-eclamptic vs normotensive) and HIV status (HIV Positive *vs* HIV negative).

CHAPTER TWO



CELL SIGNALLING FACTORS c-JUN N-TERMINAL KINASE (JNK) AND TUMOUR PROTEIN p53 IN HIV ASSOCIATED PRE-ECLAMPSIA

Journal:	Hypertension in Pregnancy
Manuscript ID	LHIP-2017-0088
Manuscript Type:	Original Article
Date Submitted by the Author:	03-Nov-2017
Complete List of Authors:	Pillay, Yazira; University of KwaZulu-Natal College of Health Sciences, Optics and Imaging Centre Olutayo, Margaret ; University of KwaZulu-Natal College of Health Sciences Moodley, Jagidesa; University of KwaZulu-Natal, Women's Health and HIV Research Group Naicker, Thajasvarie; University of KwaZulu-Natal, Optics & Imaging Centre
Keywords:	pre-eclampsia, JNK, p53, HIV



CELL SIGNALLING FACTORS c-JUN N-TERMINAL KINASE (JNK) AND TUMOUR PROTEIN p53 IN HIV ASSOCIATED PRE-ECLAMPSIA

Yazira Pillay^a, Margaret Alese^a, Jagidesa Moodley^b and Thajasvarie Naicker^a

^aOptics and Imaging Centre, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban,

KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa

^bWomen's Health and HIV Research Group, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-

Natal, Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa

Corresponding author: Yazira Pillay Optics and Imaging Centre, College of Health Sciences University of KwaZulu-Natal, P Bag 7, Congella KwaZulu-Natal, 4013 South Africa E-mail: yazira123@gmail.com; naickera@ukzn.ac.za Total word count: 5121 Total word count excluding abstract and references: 2679 Number of figures: 2
Abstract

Objective: Exaggerated apoptosis is associated with HIV infection and the pathogenesis of preeclampsia, therefore the objective of this study was to determine expression of p53 and JNK in HIV associated pre-eclampsia.

Method: This study used a Bio-plex assay to quantify expression of phosphprylated-p53 and phosphorylated-JNK in the buffy coat of HIV positive pre-eclamptic (n=20), HIV negative pre-eclamptic (n=20), HIV positive normotensive pregnant (n=20), and HIV negative normotensive pregnant (n=20) women.

Results: The expression of p53 significantly differed according to pregnancy type (pre-eclampsia *vs* normotensive; p=0.0162) and HIV status (HIV positive *vs* HIV negative; p=0.0469). There was also a significant difference in the expression of p53 between HIV negative pre-eclamptic *vs* HIV negative normotensive group (p < 0.05) and the HIV positive normotensive *vs* HIV negative pre-eclamptic group (p < 0.05) and the HIV positive normotensive *vs* HIV negative pre-eclamptic group (p < 0.05). The expression of JNK, however showed no significant differences by pregnancy type (p=0.8701), HIV status (p=0.2227) and across study groups.

Conclusion: An upregulation of p53 and JNK was found in pre-eclamptic women regardless of HIV status, suggesting a role in the pathogenesis of PE. Moreover, both p53 and JNK was downregulated in HIV infection regardless of pregnancy type. This suggests that HIV infection might confer a protective effect in pre-eclampsia development.

Keywords: Pre-eclampsia, HIV, p53, JNK.

Running title: p53 and JNK in HIV associated pre-eclampsia

Introduction

Pre-eclampsia (PE) is defined as new-onset hypertension, with proteinuria occurring in the second half of pregnancy (1). It is a major cause of perinatal and maternal morbidity and mortality globally (2). The exact pathophysiology of PE remains elusive. The most accepted concept is that immune maladaptation to the foetal allograft results in abnormal placentation, where cytotrophoblast invasion of the myometrium is shallow and remodelling of the uterine spiral arteries are incomplete (2-4). Abnormal placentation results in reduced perfusion which leads to hypoxia and subsequent ischemic reperfusion insult of the villus (2, 5), leading to the release of cytokines, other inflammatory factors and reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide dismutase (6).

The increased generation of ROS triggers a redox signalling process that induces cell apoptosis (6). Apoptosis is important in the normal development of the placenta however, when elevated it hinders trophoblast invasion (7, 8). Moreover, a theory proposed by Redman and Sargent (9) suggests that systemic endothelial damage, the characteristic lesion of PE is caused by the increased deportation of syncytiotrophoblast microvillous particles (STBMs) due to increased apoptosis (10, 11).

The precise mechanisms that stimulate apoptotic amplification in PE is unknown. Regulatory components of apoptosis include tumour protein p53 (12), and c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase (JNK) (13). p53 is a transcription factor (14) which has a critical role in determining cell fate by the activation of growth arrest, cellular senescence or apoptotic pathways (15). Under normal conditions, the expression of p53 is kept at low levels to protect the cell from any uncontrolled activity by the ubiquitin ligase, murine double minute 2 (Mdm2) (16, 17).

Post exposure to stresses including: heat and hypoxia and cytokines DNA damage and activate repair enzyme activities are promoted (18). Following DNA damage, p53 becomes phosphorylated at several sites. ATM, JNK and ATR are some of the kinases able to phosphorylate residues within the N-terminus of p53 *in-vitro* (19). This enables the stabilization of p53 by inhibition of the p53-Mdm2 interaction (20) thus allowing for the expression of cellular p53 to increase. Phosphorylation may be a part of a series of post-translational events that occur prior to p53 activation (15). The intrinsic apoptotic pathway involves the Bcl-2 family of proteins which influence cytochrome-c release from the mitochondria (21, 22). They include anti-apoptotic (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Mcl-1) and pro-apoptotic (Bax, tBid, Bim, Puma, Bak, Noxa and Bad) members (23). p53 can induce apoptosis by either activating gene expression of pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bax, Noxa, Puma, Bid (16, 24) and Mtd (25) in the nucleus or by directly permeabilizing mitochondria in the cytoplasm by acting as a pro-apoptotic BH3-only protein (26, 27).

JNK is part of the mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) superfamily, primarily involved in the regulation of cell proliferation, apoptosis and survival (28). They get activated through phosphorylation (29). JNKs can be activated by cytokines and exposure to environmental stress. Generally, the substrate of JNK is c-Jun however, they can also be involved in the activation of transcription factors like c-Myc, p53, and Elk-1 (28). JNK initiates apoptosis by the increasing the expression of pro-apoptotic genes in the nucleus like TNF-a, Fas-L, and Bak (30). Alternatively, activated JNK can translocate to the mitochondria where it modulates the activity of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (31-34).

In PE, a dysregulation of JNK (35) and p53 (36-38) has been observed. Studies have reported that HIV-1 infection is capable of activating the MAPK signalling pathway (28). Activation of the MAPK signalling pathway can enhance the efficiency of HIV-1 infection (28). While p53 expression and activation has been associated with enhancing HIV disease progression, most likely through the induction of CD4 T cell death, and its cooperative effect in controlling viral gene transcription (39). There is however, a paucity of information on the level of both p53 and JNK in HIV associated pregnancy.

In contrast to HIV infection, an upregulation of the immune response occurs in normal pregnancy, however, this up-regulation is exacerbated in PE producing an excessive maternal inflammatory response. Therefore, in HIV associated PE, a neutralisation of the immune response is expected (40). In light of the fact that the top three causes of maternal deaths in South Africa are non-pregnancy related infections (mainly HIV infected pregnant women complicated by tuberculosis and pneumonia; 34.7%,), obstetric haemorrhage (15.8%) and hypertension (14.8%) (41). The aim of this study is to determine the expression of JNK and p53 in HIV associated PE.

Methods and Materials

Study Population

This study received institutional ethical (BE204/17), Hospital manager's and the Department of Health approval. The study was conducted at a large regional hospital that serves a mainly low socio-economic black South African population group.

The study population consisted of a total of n=80 women categorized into HIV positive pre-eclamptic (n=20), HIV negative pre-eclamptic (n=20), HIV positive normotensive (n=20) and HIV negative normotensive (n=20). PE was defined as blood pressure reading of \geq 140/90 mmHg on two or more occasions after the 20th week of pregnancy with the presence of significant proteinuria >300mg/dl in a 24-hour period (42). All HIV positive women received dual anti-retroviral therapy *i.e.*, highly active antiretroviral treatment (HAART) and nevirapine.

The exclusion criteria for the PE group included: unknown HIV status, polycystic ovarian syndrome, chorioamnionitis, eclampsia, chronic hypertension, intrauterine death, abruption placentae, gestational diabetes, chronic diabetes, systemic lupus erythematous, chronic renal disease, sickle cell disease, thyroid disease, antiphospholipid antibody syndrome, cardiac disease, pre-existing seizure disorders and asthma.

Bio-Plex Multiplex Method

Maternal blood samples were centrifuged at 1200g for 10 minutes at 4°C, the buffy coat layer was aliquoted and used for the quantification of phosphorylated-p53 (S15) and phosphorylated-JNK (T183/Y185). A Bio-plex Pro Cell Signalling MAPK customised Panel 2-Plex Assay kit (#LQ0-0000S6KL81S, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., USA), was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. UV-treated HEK-293 was used as a positive control while detection antibody diluent was used as a negative control. Samples were prepared in a 1:4 dilution.

The immunoassay involved using capture antibody coupled beads, which were incubated with the antigen samples, i.e. phosphorylated-p53 and phosphorylated-JNK. Addition of biotinylated detection antibodies, and a reporter streptavidin-phycoerythrin conjugate (SA-PE) completed the interaction.

Samples were read using the Bio-Plex® MAGPIXTM Multiplex Reader (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc., USA). The Bio-Plex ManagerTM software version 4.1 was used, and presented data as median fluorescence intensity (MFI). The relative concentration of analyte bound to each bead is proportional to the MFI of the reporter signal.

Statistical Analysis

Analysis of the data was done using Graphpad Prism 5.00 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA). Data is presented by mean \pm standard error mean. A t-test was used to determine statistical significance according to pregnancy type (pre-eclamptic and normotensive) and HIV status (positive and negative), whilst a One-way ANOVA in combination with Bonferroni multiple comparison post-hoc test was used to determine statistical significance across all groups. Statistical significance was established when p < 0.05.

Results

Clinical Characteristics

Table 1 shows a summary of the demographic data of the study population. Gestational age (p=0.0009), parity (p=0.0410) and systolic (p < 0.0001) and diastolic (p < 0.0001) blood pressures were statistically different between the PE *vs* normotensive pregnant groups (T-test). Maternal age (p=0.8105) and maternal weight (p=0.1931) were similar between the PE *vs* normotensive pregnant groups.

Table 1. Patient demographics in the normotensive pregnant (n=40) and pre-eclamptic (n=40)

groups

	Normotensive	PE	p-value
	(mean ± SEM)	(mean \pm SEM)	
Maternal Age (years)	28 ± 0.91	30 ± 2.50	0.8105 (ns)
Gestational Age	38 ± 0.18	35 ± 0.70	0.0009
(weeks)			(***)
Parity	1.5 ± 0.19	2.0 ± 0.17	0.0410 (*)
Systolic BP (mmHg)	109 ± 3.70	154 ± 2.40	<0.0001(***)
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	69 ± 2.80	100 ± 1.30	<0.0001(***)
Weight (kg)	80 ± 2.00	85 ± 2.90	0.1931 (ns)

Results are represented as the mean \pm standard error mean (SEM), ns: non-significant

* - p < 0.05

*** - p < 0.001

Median Fluorescent Intensity (MFI) of p53 and JNK.

The MFI of p53 and JNK are shown in Table 2 and figure 1 (A-C) and 2 (A-C).

p53 expression:

Based on pregnancy type, a significant difference in the expression of p53 was noted between the PE *vs* normotensive pregnant groups (p=0.0162), regardless of HIV status (HIV positive *vs* HIV negative). A higher expression was demonstrated in the PE (24 \pm 1.30 MFI) compared to the normotensive pregnant (20 \pm 0.80 MFI) group (Figure 1A).

Based on HIV status, there was a significant difference in the expression of p53 between the HIV positive vs HIV negative groups (p=0.0469), irrespective of pregnancy type (pre-eclamptic vs

normotensive pregnant). A lower expression was observed in the HIV positive (20 ± 0.60 MFI) compared to the HIV negative (23 ± 1.40 MFI) group (Figure 1B).

There was a significant difference (p < 0.05) in the expression of p53 between the HIV negative preeclamptic (26 ± 1.60 MFI) vs HIV negative normotensive (20 ± 1.80 MFI) group and the HIV positive normotensive (20 ± 0.72 MFI) vs HIV negative pre-eclamptic (26 ± 1.60 MFI) group, (p < 0.05) (Figure 1C).

1A.





Figure 1. MFI of cell signalling factor p53: (A) p53 based on pregnancy type, (B) p53 based on HIV status and (C) p53 across all groups. The MFI of p53 was significantly different based on pregnancy type (*; pre-eclamptic *vs* normotensive) regardless of HIV status and based on HIV status (*; HIV positive *vs* HIV negative) regardless of pregnancy type. There was also a significant difference in the MFI of p53 between HIV negative pre-eclamptic *vs* HIV negative normotensive (*), and between HIV positive normotensive *vs* HIV negative pre-eclamptic (*).

Results are represented as mean \pm standard error mean (SEM).

* - p < 0.05.

JNK expression:

Based on pregnancy type. The expression of JNK was similar between pre-eclamptic *vs* normotensive pregnant groups (p=0.8701), regardless of HIV status (HIV positive *vs* HIV negative). Despite having no statistical significance, the expression of JNK was increased in the pre-eclamptic (26 ± 3.20 MFI) compared to the normotensive pregnant group (25 ± 2.00 MFI) (Figure 2A).

Based on HIV status, the expression of JNK was similar in the HIV positive *vs* HIV negative groups (p=0.2227), regardless of pregnancy type (pre-eclamptic *vs* normotensive). There was also a decrease in the expression of JNK in the HIV positive group (24 ± 2.70 MFI) compared to the HIV negative (26 ± 2.20 MFI) group (Figure 2B).

No significance in the expression of JNK was demonstrated across all study groups, HIV positive preeclamptic, HIV negative pre-eclamptic, HIV positive normotensive and HIV negative normotensive (Figure 2C).

2A.



2B.





Figure 2. MFI of cell signalling factor JNK: (A) JNK based on pregnancy type, (B) JNK based on HIV status and (C) JNK across all groups. No significant difference was found in the MFI of p53 based on pregnancy type (pre-eclamptic *vs* normotensive) regardless of HIV status and based on HIV status (HIV positive *vs* HIV negative) regardless of pregnancy type. There was also no significant difference across all groups.

Results are represented as mean \pm standard error mean (SEM).

	Normotensive Pregnant (n=40)		Pre-eclamptic Pregnant (n=40)	
	HIV negative	HIV positive	HIV negative	HIV positive
p53	20 ± 1.80	20 ± 0.72	26 ± 1.60	21 ± 1.20
JNK	27 ± 2.40	23 ± 3.30	25 ± 4.40	29 ± 5.00

Table 2 MFI of p53 and JNK across all study groups.

Results are represented as the mean \pm standard error mean (SEM).

Discussion

This study has demonstrated a significant increase in the level of p53 in women with PE compared to normotensive pregnant women. This observation in pre-eclamptic women, is consistent with previous reports albeit using placental tissue samples (36, 38). Notably, the hypoxia and oxidative stress that occurs in PE, expounds the exaggerated syncytiotrophoblast autophagy and apoptosis that characterises PE (36). In support of this, studies have shown an association between exposure of trophoblasts to

hypoxia and enhanced apoptosis (43) with an increase in the expression of p53 (43), Bax (43), and Mtd-1 (44) with a simultaneous decrease in Bcl-2 expression (43, 45).

In our study, we also report no significant difference, albeit an upwards trend in JNK expression between pre-eclamptic compared to normotensive pregnancies. Our results are corroborated by Szabo *et al* (35) who evaluated JNK immunostaining of the villous trophoblast and demonstrated that there was no change in JNK immunoscores in preterm or term PE. However, an upregulated trend was noted in late-onset PE compared to term controls. This increase could be attributed to the increased hypoxia and oxidative stress secondary to defective placentation that occurs in PE (7). Studies in support of this theory show that placental explants challenged with different pre-eclamptic associated stresses such as hypoxia-reoxygenation (H/R) (46), hypoxia and inflammatory cytokines (47) lead to in increased oxidative stress and subsequent phosphorylation of JNK with the resultant activation of the JNK/MAPK pathway (46, 47). The antioxidant vitamins C and E effectively suppress markers of oxidative stress, apoptosis as well as phosphorylation of JNK induced by H/R (46).

Notably, plasma hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) levels are increased in women with PE (48). Tang and colleagues (49) found H_2O_2 treatment decreased the viability, triggered apoptosis and increased phosphorylation of JNK of human trophoblast like cell line JEG-3 cells whilst the addition of a JNK inhibitor SP600125 increased cell viability and decreased apoptosis (49). Thus, it is plausible to assume that both hypoxia and oxidative stress contribute to the increase of p53 and JNK in the causation of the exaggerated apoptosis in PE.

In our study, we demonstrate a significant decrease of p53 expression in HIV positive compared to HIV negative individuals, regardless of pregnancy type. This observation may be attributed to the neutralisation of the immune response expected in HIV associated PE (40). Furthermore, the HIV-1 accessory protein, Nef directly interacts with p53, with consequential destabilization of p53, decreasing its half-life, proapoptotic, transcriptional, and DNA binding activities (50). This demonstrates that Nef could supplement HIV replication by extending infected cell sustainability by blocking p53-mediated apoptosis (50). This indicates that HIV infection may have a protective effect by reducing the level of p53, hence preventing PE development.

However, in contrast to these observations, previous studies report that p53 is activated in HIV-1 infection (39). Our results may be due to the use of HAART which suppresses HIV replication (51). Moreover, a significant difference of p53 was found in HIV positive normotensive *vs* the HIV negative pre-eclamptic group.

Based on HIV status, we also report no significant difference in the JNK expression. Previous studies have shown that HIV-1 infection could activate the host cellular MAPK signalling pathway, this could enhance HIV-1 gene expression level, viral genome replication level and virus infection activity (52-54). A study by Gong *et al* (28) showed that a JNK pathway inhibitor SP600125 had an effect on HIV infection and HIV-1 LTR promoter activity (28).

One should also take cognisance of the fact that all HIV infected women in our study were on HAART or anti-retroviral drugs (nevirapine). The administration of HAART in HIV infected women has been linked to increased predisposition to PE development (55, 56) as it causes immune reconstitution (57). Lower activation levels of JNK, AKT and ERK kinases have been observed post HAART treatment (51), thereby indicating HAART may be responsible for the decreased p53 and JNK levels in HIV infected individuals.

Usually, the syncytiotrophoblast is protected against apoptosis, by the expression of various antiapoptotic proteins including: Mdm2, Bcl-2, and Mcl-1 which antagonize the effects of pro-apoptotic p53, Bax, Bak, Mtd and smac (58-61). However, in PE, Sharp *et al* (36) have shown a substantial reduction in the anti-apoptotic protection of the syncytiotrophoblast with a decrease in Mdm2. This therefore facilitates an increase in p53 expression culminating in a pro-apoptotic environment. The loss of function of Mdm2 is also related to increased apoptosis and syncytial degeneration (36).

In PE, intrinsic cell damage has been proposed to lead to increased levels of apoptosis, hypothesized *in vivo* to stem from hypoxia-reperfusion injury (62), and replicated *in vitro* by hypoxia (38, 60, 63) and oxidative stress (64, 65). The role that exaggerated apoptosis plays in the pathogenesis of PE is uncertain, but could eventually prevent trophoblast migration, normal syncytiotrophoblast turnover, promote syncytial degeneration and release vasoactive or inflammatory factors into the maternal

circulation (7). PE is also associated with exaggerated levels of cell-free foetal DNA and syncytiotrophoblast microparticles (STBM) which show characteristics of apoptosis in the maternal circulation (66-69). It is hypothesised that STBMs as well as cell-free foetal DNA could be released as a result of apoptotic cell death, this is supported by studies demonstrating increased levels of STBMs and cell-free foetal DNA in trophoblast cultured in conditions of hypoxia and H/R (70-72). Moreover, STBMs found in the maternal circulation are associated with an altered immunological response. In specific, neutrophil activation (73, 74) and the release of superoxide radicals (75). Furthermore, *in vitro* STBMs can disrupt endothelial cells, providing a link between placental apoptosis, STBM liberation and the maternal vascular complications which are characteristic of the pre-eclamptic syndrome (76, 77).

The elevation of p53 in pre-eclamptic women suggest that p53 is being released into the maternal circulation. Furthermore, altered apoptosis in pre-eclampsia is not only found in the placenta but in the endothelial cells (78). This may occur from the toxicity effect of excessive syncytial fragments or from the local hypoxic environment, and this effect may occur via p53-mediated endothelial apoptosis as seen in other systems (79, 80). It was also shown that the upregulation of p53 induced apoptosis and suppressed endothelial cell proliferation in PE (37).

Conclusion

In summary, we demonstrate a significant increase in p53 expression with a slight increase in JNK in PE, suggesting a potential role in the pathogenesis of PE. A significant down regulation of p53 with concurrent decrease of JNK was noted in the HIV positive group, indicating that HIV infection might offer a protective effect against exaggerated levels of p53 and JNK, however altered levels might be associated with use of HAART, which merits further investigation. The increase in expression of p53 and JNK in PE elucidates their potential value as a risk indicator in the development of PE.

Declaration of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the College of Health Sciences, UKZN for providing funding.

Reference

1. Wang A, Rana S, Karumanchi SA. Preeclampsia: the role of angiogenic factors in its pathogenesis. Physiology (Bethesda, Md). 2009;24:147-58.

2. Levy R. The role of apoptosis in preeclampsia. The Israel Medical Association journal : IMAJ. 2005;7(3):178-81.

3. Matthiesen L, Berg G, Ernerudh J, Ekerfelt C, Jonsson Y, Sharma S. Immunology of preeclampsia. Chemical immunology and allergy. 2005;89:49-61.

4. Dekker GA, Sibai BM. Etiology and pathogenesis of preeclampsia: current concepts. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 1998;179(5):1359-75.

5. Hung T-H, Skepper JN, Burton GJ. In Vitro Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Term Human Placenta as a Model for Oxidative Stress in Pathological Pregnancies. The American journal of pathology. 2001;159(3):1031-43.

6. Sánchez-Aranguren LC, Prada CE, Riaño-Medina CE, Lopez M. Endothelial dysfunction and preeclampsia: role of oxidative stress. Frontiers in Physiology. 2014;5.

7. Sharp AN, Heazell AE, Crocker IP, Mor G. Placental apoptosis in health and disease. American journal of reproductive immunology (New York, NY : 1989). 2010;64(3):159-69.

8. Naicker T, Dorsamy E, Ramsuran D, Burton GJ, Moodley J. The Role of Apoptosis on Trophoblast Cell Invasion in the Placental Bed of Normotensive and Preeclamptic Pregnancies. Hypertension in Pregnancy. 2013;32(3):245-56.

9. Redman CW, Sargent IL. Placental debris, oxidative stress and pre-eclampsia. Placenta. 2000;21(7):597-602.

10. Nelson DM. Apoptotic changes occur in syncytiotrophoblast of human placental villi where fibrin type fibrinoid is deposited at discontinuities in the villous trophoblast. Placenta. 1996;17(7):387-91.

11. Huppertz B, Frank HG, Kingdom JCP, Reister F, P. K. Villous cytotrophoblast regulation of the syncytial apoptotic cascade in the human placenta. Histochem Cell Bio. 1998;110:495-508.

12. Prives C, Hall PA. The p53 pathway. The Journal of pathology. 1999;187(1):112-26.

13. Lin A, B. D. The true face of JNK activation in apoptosis. Aging Cell. 2002;1:112-6.

14. Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature. 1992;358(6381):15-6.

15. Brooks CL, Gu W. New insights into p53 activation. Cell research. 2010;20(6):614-21.

16. Sharp A. The Role of p53 Modulation in Correcting Aberrant Placental Apoptosis in Pre-eclampsia and IUGR. PhD thesis. University of Manchester. 2011.

17. Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, *et al.* In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science (New York, NY). 2004;303(5659):844-8.

18. Harris SL, Levine AJ. The p53 pathway: positive and negative feedback loops. Oncogene. 2005;24(17):2899-908.

19. Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MHG, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 Function and Stability by Phosphorylation. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1999;19(3):1751-8.

20. Kruse JP, Gu W. SnapShot: p53 posttranslational modifications. Cell. 2008;133(5):930-30.e1.

21. Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Alnemri ES, *et al.* Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. Cell. 1997;91(4):479-89.

22. Cory S, Adams JM. The Bcl2 family: regulators of the cellular life-or-death switch. Nature reviews Cancer. 2002;2(9):647-56.

23. Vaseva AV, Moll UM. The mitochondrial p53 pathway. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2009;1787(5):414-20.

24. Susan Haupt, Michael Berger, Zehavit Goldberg, Haupt. Y. Apoptosis - The P53 Network Journal of cell science. 2003;116:4077-85.

25. Yakovlev AG, Di Giovanni S, Wang G, Liu W, Stoica B, Faden AI. BOK and NOXA are essential mediators of p53-dependent apoptosis. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2004;279(27):28367-74.

26. Green DR, Kroemer G. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature. 2009;458(7242):1127-30.

27. Mihara M, Erster S, Zaika A, Petrenko O, Chittenden T, Pancoska P, *et al.* p53 Has a Direct Apoptogenic Role at the Mitochondria. Molecular cell. 2003;11(3):577-90.

28. Gong J, Shen X-h, Chen C, Qiu H, Yang R-g. Down-regulation of HIV-1 infection by inhibition of the MAPK signaling pathway. Virologica Sinica. 2011;26(2):114-22.

29. Cindrova-Davies T. Gabor Than Award Lecture 2008: pre-eclampsia - from placental oxidative stress to maternal endothelial dysfunction. Placenta. 2009;30 Suppl A:S55-65.

30. Fan M, Chambers TC. Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in the response of tumor cells to chemotherapy. Drug resistance updates : reviews and commentaries in antimicrobial and anticancer chemotherapy. 2001;4(4):253-67.

31. Dhanasekaran DN, Reddy EP. JNK Signaling in Apoptosis. Oncogene. 2008;27(48):6245-51.

32. Kharbanda S, Saxena S, Yoshida K, Pandey P, Kaneki M, Wang Q, *et al.* Translocation of SAPK/JNK to mitochondria and interaction with Bcl-x(L) in response to DNA damage. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2000;275(1):322-7.

33. Chauhan D, Li G, Hideshima T, Podar K, Mitsiades C, Mitsiades N, *et al.* JNK-dependent release of mitochondrial protein, Smac, during apoptosis in multiple myeloma (MM) cells. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2003;278(20):17593-6.

34. Lei K, Davis RJ. JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Baxdependent apoptosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2003;100(5):2432-7.

35. Szabo S, Mody M, Romero R, Xu Y, Karaszi K, Mihalik N, *et al.* Activation of villous trophoblastic p38 and ERK1/2 signaling pathways in preterm preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. Pathology oncology research : POR. 2015;21(3):659-68.

36. Sharp AN, Heazell AEP, Baczyk D, Dunk CE, Lacey HA, Jones CJP, *et al.* Preeclampsia Is Associated with Alterations in the p53-Pathway in Villous Trophoblast. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(1).

37. Gao Q, Zhu X, Chen J, Mao C, Zhang L, Xu Z. Upregulation of P53 promoted G1 arrest and apoptosis in human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells from preeclampsia. Journal of Hypertension. 2016;34(7):1380-8.

38. Levy R, Smith SD, Yusuf K, Huettner PC, Kraus FT, Sadovsky Y, *et al.* Trophoblast apoptosis from pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction is associated with enhanced p53 expression. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2002;186(5):1056-61.

39. Eduardo Pauls, Jordi Senserrich, Bonaventura Clotet, Esté. JA. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by RNA interference of p53 expression. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 2006;80(3):659-67.

40. Hall D, Gebhardt S, Theron G, Grové D. Pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension are less common in HIV infected women. Pregnancy Hypertension: An International Journal of Women's Cardiovascular Health. 2014;4(1):91-6.

41. South African Department of Health. Saving Mothers 2011-2013: Sixth report on the confidential enquiries into maternal deaths in South Africa. 2013.

42. Davey DA, MacGillivray I. The classification and definition of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 1988;158(4):892-8.

43. Levy R, Smith SD, Chandler K, Sadovsky Y, Nelson DM. Apoptosis in human cultured trophoblasts is enhanced by hypoxia and diminished by epidermal growth factor. American journal of physiology Cell physiology. 2000;278(5):C982-8.

44. Soleymanlou N, Wu Y, Wang JX, Todros T, Ietta F, Jurisicova A, *et al*. A novel Mtd splice isoform is responsible for trophoblast cell death in pre-eclampsia. Cell death and differentiation. 2005;12(5):441-52.

45. Hu R, Zhou S, Li X. Altered Bcl-2 and Bax expression is associated with cultured first trimester human cytotrophoblasts apoptosis induced by hypoxia. Life sciences. 2006;79(4):351-5.

46. Cindrova-Davies T, Spasic-Boskovic O, Jauniaux E, Charnock-Jones DS, Burton GJ. Nuclear factor-kappa B, p38, and stress-activated protein kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways regulate proinflammatory cytokines and apoptosis in human placental explants in response to oxidative stress: effects of antioxidant vitamins. The American journal of pathology. 2007;170(5):1511-20.

47. Xiong Y, Liebermann DA, Holtzman EJ, Jeronis S, Hoffman B, Geifman-Holtzman O. Preeclampsia-associated stresses activate Gadd45a signaling and sFlt-1 in placental explants. J Cell Physiol. 2013;228(2):362-70.

48. Kharfi A, Giguère Y, De Grandpré P, Moutquin J-M, Forest J-C. Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) may be a marker of systemic oxidative stress in normotensive and preeclamptic term pregnancies. Clin Biochem. 2005;38(8):717-21.

40

49. Tang C, Liang J, Qian J, Jin L, Du M, Li M, *et al.* Opposing role of JNK-p38 kinase and ERK1/2 in hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative damage of human trophoblast-like JEG-3 cells. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Pathology. 2014;7(3):959-68.

50. Greenway AL, McPhee DA, Allen K, Johnstone R, Holloway G, Mills J, *et al.* Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Nef Binds to Tumor Suppressor p53 and Protects Cells against p53-Mediated Apoptosis. J Virol 2002;76(6):2692-702.

51. Kusdra L, McGuire D, Pulliam L. Changes in monocyte/macrophage neurotoxicity in the era of HAART: implications for HIV-associated dementia. AIDS (London, England). 2002;16(1):31-8.

52. Cohen PS, Schmidtmayerova H, Dennis J, Dubrovsky L, Sherry B, Wang H, *et al.* The critical role of p38 MAP kinase in T cell HIV-1 replication. Molecular Medicine. 1997;3(5):339-46.

53. Jacque J M, Mann A, H. E. Modulation of HIV-1 infectivity by MAPK, a virionassociated kinase. The EMBO journal. 1998;17:2607-18.

54. Xiaoyu Yang, Gabuzda. D. Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Phosphorylates and Regulates the HIV-1 Vif Protein. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1998;273:29879-87.

55. Govender N, Naicker T, Moodley J. Maternal imbalance between pro-angiogenic and antiangiogenic factors in HIV-infected women with pre-eclampsia. Cardiovascular Journal of Africa. 2013;24(5):174-9.

56. Sansone M, Sarno L, Saccone G, Berghella V, Maruotti GM, Migliucci A, *et al.* Risk of Preeclampsia in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Pregnant Women. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2016;127(6):1027-32.

57. Wimalasundera RC, Larbalestier N, Smith JH, de Ruiter A, Mc GTSA, Hughes AD, *et al.* Preeclampsia, antiretroviral therapy, and immune reconstitution. Lancet (London, England). 2002;360(9340):1152-4.

58. Ellery PM, Cindrova-Davies T, Jauniaux E, Ferguson-Smith AC, Burton GJ. Evidence for transcriptional activity in the syncytiotrophoblast of the human placenta. Placenta. 2009;30(4):329-34.

41

59. Heazell AEP, Buttle HR, Baker PN, Crocker IP. Altered Expression of Regulators of Caspase Activity within Trophoblast of Normal Pregnancies and Pregnancies Complicated by Preeclampsia. Reproductive Sciences. 2008;15(10):1034-43.

60. Soleymanlou N, Jurisicova A, Wu Y, Chijiiwa M, Ray JE, Detmar J, *et al.* Hypoxic switch in mitochondrial myeloid cell leukemia factor-1/Mtd apoptotic rheostat contributes to human trophoblast cell death in preeclampsia. The American journal of pathology. 2007;171(2):496-506.

61. Ratts VS, Tao XJ, Webster CB, Swanson PE, Smith SD, Brownbill P, *et al.* Expression of BCL-2, BAX and BAK in the trophoblast layer of the term human placenta: a unique model of apoptosis within a syncytium. Placenta. 2000;21(4):361-6.

62. Hung TH, Burton GJ. Hypoxia and reoxygenation: a possible mechanism for placental oxidative stress in preeclampsia. Taiwanese journal of obstetrics & gynecology. 2006;45(3):189-200.

63. Heazell AEP, Lacey HA, al. e. Effects of oxygen on cell turnover and expression of regulators of apoptosis in human placental trophoblast. Placenta. 2008;29(2):175-86.

64. Hung T-H, Chen S-F, Lo L-M, Li M-J, Yeh Y-L, Hsieh Ts-Ta. Increased Autophagy in Placentas of Intrauterine Growth-Restricted Pregnancies. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(7):e40957.

65. Hung TH, Chen SF, Liou JD, Hsu JJ, Li MJ, Yeh YL, *et al.* Bax, Bak and mitochondrial oxidants are involved in hypoxia-reoxygenation-induced apoptosis in human placenta. Placenta. 2008;29(7):565-83.

66. Johansen M, Redman CW, Wilkins T, Sargent IL. Trophoblast deportation in human pregnancy-its relevance for pre-eclampsia. Placenta. 1999;20(7):531-9.

67. Goswami D, Tannetta DS, Magee LA, Fuchisawa A, Redman CW, Sargent IL, *et al.* Excess syncytiotrophoblast microparticle shedding is a feature of early-onset pre-eclampsia, but not normotensive intrauterine growth restriction. Placenta. 2006;27(1):56-61.

68. Knight M, Redman CW, Linton EA, Sargent IL. Shedding of syncytiotrophoblast microvilli into the maternal circulation in pre-eclamptic pregnancies. British journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 1998;105(6):632-40.

69. Zhong XY, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. The levels of circulatory cell free fetal DNA in maternal plasma are elevated prior to the onset of preeclampsia. Hypertens Pregnancy. 2002;21(1):77-83.

70. Abumaree MH, Stone PR, Chamley LW. An in vitro model of human placental trophoblast deportation/shedding. Molecular human reproduction. 2006;12(11):687-94.

71. Orozco AF, Bischoff FZ, Horne C, Popek E, Simpson JL, Lewis DE. Hypoxia-induced membranebound apoptotic DNA particles: potential mechanism of fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2006;1075:57-62.

72. Tjoa ML, Cindrova-Davies T, Spasic-Boskovic O, Bianchi DW, Burton GJ. Trophoblastic oxidative stress and the release of cell-free feto-placental DNA. The American journal of pathology. 2006;169(2):400-4.

73. Von Dadelszen P, Hurst G, CW. R. Supernatants from co-cultured endothelial cells and syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes activate peripheral blood leukocytes in vitro. Hum Reprod Biomed Online. 1999;14:919-24.

74. Gupta A, Hasler P, Gebhardt S, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. Occurrence of neutrophil extracellular DNA traps (NETs) in pre-eclampsia: a link with elevated levels of cell-free DNA? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2006;1075:118-22.

75. Aly AS, Khandelwal M, Zhao J, Mehmet AH, Sammel MD, S. P, *et al.* Neutrophils are stimulated by syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes to generate superoxide radicals in women with preeclampsia. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2004;190:252-8.

76. Cockell AP, Learmont JG, Smarason AK, Redman CW, Sargent IL, Poston L. Human placental syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes impair maternal vascular endothelial function. British journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 1997;104(2):235-40.

77. Hoegh AM, Tannetta D, Sargent I, Borup R, Nielsen FC, Redman C, *et al.* Effect of syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membrane treatment on gene expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 2006;113(11):1270-9.

78. Neale D, Demasio K, Illuzi J, Chaiworapongsa T, Romero R, Mor G. Maternal serum of women with pre-eclampsia reduces trophoblast cell viability: evidence for an increased sensitivity to Fasmediated apoptosis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2003;13(1): 39-44. 79. Banasiak KJ, Haddad GG. Hypoxia-induced apoptosis: effect of hypoxic severity and role of p53 in neuronal cell death. Brain Res. 1998;797: 295-304.

80. Long X, Boluyt A, Hipolito B, Lundberg M, Zheng J, Oíniel L, *et al.* P53 and the hypoxia-induced apoptosis of cultured neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. J Clin Invest. 1997;99: 2635-43.

CHAPTER THREE

SYNTHESIS

In South Africa, during 2011-2013 there were 4452 maternal deaths which is unacceptably high despite numerous health care improvements. The top 3 causes include non-pregnancy related infections (mainly HIV related complications) (34.7%), obstetric haemorrhage (15.8%) and 14.8% accounting for hypertension (South African Department of Health, 2013). Both, HIV infection and hypertensive disorders of pregnancies, especially pre-eclampsia (PE) are important conditions in developing countries (Hall *et al.*, 2014).

Despite decades of research the exact mechanism underlying the cause and progression of PE remains unknown and no successful treatment for PE is available currently except delivery of the placenta and baby (Williamson *et al.*, 2017). A common concept is that immune maladaptation to the foetal allograft can result in impaired trophoblast invasion and defective spiral arterial remodelling (Matthiesen *et al.*, 2005, Dekker and Sibai, 1998). In normal placentation the extravillous cytotrophoblasts invade the uterine spiral arteries of the decidua and myometrium, replacing the endothelial layer of the maternal spiral arteries, transforming them from small, high-resistance vessels to high capacitance, low resistance vessels that can sustain the growth of the foetus (Wang *et al.*, 2009). In PE remodelling of the spiral arteries is inadequate and limited to the decidua (Wang *et al.*, 2009).

The reduced utero placental perfusion secondary to abnormal placentation leads to placental ischemia and hypoxia (Levy, 2005). Retention of vasoreactivity of the spiral arteries could persist, resulting in intermittent perfusion, transient hypoxia, and ischemia-reperfusion insult of the villus (Hung *et al.*, 2001), which in turn releases cytokines as well as other inflammatory factors and damaging levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014). Oxidative stress is observed when the relative pro-oxidant species (ROS) are higher than the antioxidant defences (Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014), this can trigger a redox signalling process that induces cell apoptosis (Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014).

Apoptosis (programmed cell death), is important in the normal development of the placenta, however apoptosis is exaggerated in PE and initiated by various stimuli, including hypoxia and oxidative stress

(Sharp *et al.*, 2010). Important cell signalling molecules involved in the regulation of apoptosis include tumour protein p53 (Prives and Hall, 1999) and c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) (Lin and Dibling, 2002, Liu J and A., 2005).

p53 is a transcription factor (Lane, 1992) and contributes to the regulation of proliferation, DNA repair, apoptosis, and survival (Sharp *et al.*, 2014, Vousden and Ryan, 2009). Under normal conditions, the expression of p53 is kept at low levels, restrained by the ubiquitin ligase, murine double minute 2 (Mdm2) which targets it for ubiquitination via the proteasome and removes it from the nucleus (Haupt *et al.*, 1997, Kubbutat *et al.*, 1997, Momand *et al.*, 1992, Levine, 1997, Lu *et al.*, 2000).

Furthermore, p53 also promotes the transcription of Mdm2 (Harris and Levine, 2005). Stresses including heat, hypoxia, and cytokines promote DNA damage (Sharp, 2011, Harris and Levine, 2005), subsequently causing the phosphorylation of p53 at several sites, allowing for the stabilization of p53 by inhibition of the p53-MDM2 interaction (Kruse and Gu, 2008). This results in the rapid increase of cellular p53 (Sharp, 2011).

The results of this study demonstrate an upregulation of p53 in women with PE compared to normotensive pregnant women regardless of HIV status (HIV positive vs HIV negative). Similar findings of elevated p53 in PE has been observed in previous studies using placental tissue samples (Levy *et al.*, 2002, Sharp *et al* 2014). Hypoxia and oxidative stress could explain the stimulation and increase of p53 expression associated with apoptosis in PE in our study (Sharp *et al.*, 2014). In support of this, studies have reported an association between exposure of trophoblasts to hypoxia and enhanced apoptosis (Levy *et al.*, 2000), with an increase in the expression of p53 (Levy *et al.*, 2000), Bax (Levy *et al.*, 2000), and Mtd-1 (Soleymanlou *et al.*, 2005) and a simultaneous decrease in anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 expression (Levy *et al.*, 2000, Hu *et al.*, 2006).

Apoptosis is initiated via the intrinsic or extrinsic pathway. Hypoxia (Levy, 2005), and ROS are able to trigger apoptosis via the intrinsic pathway, the activation of which leads to an altered mitochondrial membrane permeability due to the imbalance in the relationship of pro-apoptotic (Bax, Bak tBid, Bim, Puma, Noxa and Bad) and anti-apoptotic (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Mcl-1) Bcl-2 proteins (Cory and Adams,

2002, Vaseva and Moll, 2009). The resulting mitochondrial membrane permeability causes pore formation and cytochrome-c to leak into the cytosol where it binds with apoptosis protease activating factor-1 (APAF-1) and the initiator caspase 9 in the cytosol to form the apoptosome complex (Li *et al.*, 1997, Ott *et al.*, 2002, Chinnaiyan, 1999). Both pathways culminate in a terminal pathway involving the activation of caspase-3, 6 and 7 that initiate cell destruction (Sharp *et al.*, 2010, Tewari *et al.*, 1995, Koh *et al.*, 2005).

p53 can induce apoptosis by promoting the downstream transcription of elements involved in apoptosis such as Bax, Noxa, Puma, Bid (Sharp, 2011), Mtd (Yakovlev *et al.*, 2004) and APAF-1 in the nucleus or by directly permeabilizing mitochondria in the cytoplasm by acting as a pro-apoptotic BH3-only protein (Green and Kroemer, 2009).

Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are well known mediators in signal transduction pathways (Qi and Elion, 2005). These mediators are activated by phosphorylation (Cindrova-Davies, 2009). JNK is part of the MAPK family which are associated with the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). JNK can be activated by various stimuli which include; growth factors (Hibi *et al.*, 1993), cytokines (Westwick *et al.*, 1994) and ROS (Chambers and LoGrasso, 2011).

When activated JNK can phosphorylate and regulate the activity of transcription factors such as; c-Jun, ATF2, Elk-1, and p53 (Chang and Karin, 2001, Davis, 2000, Karin, 1995, Lin, 2003) and other factors like the members of the Bcl-2 family (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Bim and BAD) (Liu J and A., 2005). JNK initiates apoptosis by increasing the expression of pro-apoptotic genes in the nucleus like TNF-a, Fas-L, and Bak (Fan and Chambers, 2001). Alternatively, activated JNK can translocate to the mitochondria where it modulates the activity of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins. (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008).

In this study, the expression of JNK was similar according to pregnancy type regardless of HIV status. Similar to our findings, Szabo *et al* evaluated JNK immunostaining of the villous trophoblast and showed no change in the JNK immunoscore in preterm or term PE, however it tended to be higher in late-onset PE compared to term controls (Szabo *et al.*, 2015). A limitation of our study was the heterogeneity of the pre-eclampsia cohort. Further studies are underway to sub-stratify PE into earlyonset pre-eclampsia (EOPE) and late-onset pre-eclampsia (LOPE) to maintain a homogenous population.

EOPE is considered more severe than LOPE and originates from poor placentation, while LOPE seems to be exaggerated by predisposing risks for maternal endothelial dysfunction in the second half of pregnancy. Both types show enhanced systemic inflammatory responses (Herzog *et al.*, 2017). Separate pathogenic paths for EOPE and LOPE have been proposed. The distinction could thus lead to different approaches in clinical management (Chen *et al.*, 2012). A study has shown that the shedding of cell-free foetal DNA syncytiotrophoblast microparticles (STBMs) into the maternal circulation occurs in greater amounts in EOPE vs LOPE (Chen *et al.*, 2012).

The upregulation in our study observed may be attributed to the increased hypoxia and oxidative stress in PE (Sharp *et al.*, 2010). Studies supporting this show that placental explants challenged with different pre-eclamptic associated stresses such as hypoxia-reoxygenation (H/R) (Cindrova-Davies *et al.*, 2007), hypoxia and inflammatory cytokines (Xiong *et al.*, 2013) lead to increased oxidative stress and subsequent phosphorylation of JNK with the resultant activation of the JNK/MAPK pathway (Cindrova-Davies *et al.*, 2007, Xiong Y *et al.*, 2013).

In our study, a significant difference in the expression of p53 based on HIV status (HIV positive vs HIV negative) was observed, with a downregulation in the level of p53 in the HIV positive compared to the HIV negative group. These results could be due to the neutralisation of the immune response expected in HIV associated PE (Hall *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, the HIV accessory protein, Nef interacts directly with p53, Nef could therefore supplement HIV replication by extending infected cell sustainability by blocking p53-mediated apoptosis (Greenway *et al.*, 2002). This indicates that HIV infection might have a protective effect in the pathogenesis of PE by reducing the level of p53. However, previous studies report that p53 may be activated in HIV-1 infection (Eduardo Pauls *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, our results might be due to the use of HAART which suppresses HIV replication and exacerbates inflammatory response (Kusdra *et al.*, 2002).

In normal pregnancy there is an upregulation of the immune response, in PE this upregulation is exacerbated leading to an excessive maternal inflammatory response. Therefore, in HIV infection which is a condition of immune deficiency, a neutralisation of the immune response is expected in HIV associated PE. (Hall *et al.*, 2014) which could possibly explain our results. We also demonstrate a significant difference of p53 between HIV negative pre-eclamptic vs HIV negative normotensive.

There was no significant difference demonstrated in the expression of JNK based on HIV status. However, a downregulation trend was seen in the HIV positive vs the HIV negative group. Other studies have reported that HIV-1 infection could activate the host cellular MAPK signalling pathway, enhancing the HIV-1 gene expression level, viral genome replication level and virus infection activity (Cohen *et al.*, 1997, Jacque J M *et al.*, 1998, Xiaoyu Yang and Gabuzda., 1998). Furthermore, a study by Gong *et al* showed that a JNK pathway inhibitor SP600125 had a slight effect on HIV infection and HIV-1 LTR promoter activity (Gong *et al.*, 2011) supporting our results. A limitation of our study was that all HIV positive women in our study were on HAART or anti-retroviral drugs, as it is the standard of care in South Africa. HAART can re-constitute the mother's immune response, and thus increase the risk of developing PE (Wimalasundera *et al.*, 2002).

Both hypoxia and oxidative stress may contribute to the increase of p53 and JNK which are implicated in the causation of the exaggerated apoptosis in PE. In PE, increased apoptosis is believed to result from intrinsic cell damage, hypothesized *in vivo* to result from hypoxia-reperfusion injury (Hung and Burton, 2006), and replicated *in vitro* by hypoxia (Heazell *et al.*, 2008b, Soleymanlou *et al.*, 2007, Levy *et al.*, 2002) and oxidative stress (Hung *et al.*, 2012, Hung *et al.*, 2008) which could be the underlying cause in the pathophysiology of PE (Sharp *et al.*, 2010).

Exaggerated apoptosis could eventually prevent normal replenishment of the syncytiotrophoblast, promote syncytial degeneration and release vasoactive or inflammatory factors into the maternal circulation (Sharp *et al.*, 2010). PE is associated with an elevation in STBMs which have features of apoptosis in the maternal circulation (Johansen *et al.*, 1999, Goswami *et al.*, 2006, Knight *et al.*, 1998, Zhong *et al.*, 2002). It is hypothesised that STBMs and cell-free foetal DNA may be released due to apoptotic cell death, supported by studies demonstrating increased levels of STBMs and cell-free foetal

DNA in trophoblast cultured in hypoxia and H/R (Abumaree *et al.*, 2006, Orozco *et al.*, 2006, Tjoa *et al.*, 2006).

STBMs found in the maternal circulation are associated with an altered immune response specifically, neutrophil activation (Von Dadelszen P *et al.*, 1999, Gupta *et al.*, 2006) and the release of superoxide radicals (Aly AS *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, *in vitro* STBMs can disrupt endothelial cells, providing a connection between placental apoptosis, syncytial microparticle liberation and the maternal vascular complications which are characteristic of the pre-eclamptic syndrome (Cockell *et al.*, 1997, Hoegh *et al.*, 2006).

Placental apoptosis as well as cytotrophoblast proliferation is enhanced. This imbalance may contribute to the pathogenesis of PE. Increased syncytiotrophoblast apoptosis counters cytotrophoblast fusion, thereby promoting the release of syncytial material which can disrupt the maternal vascular endothelium (Crocker, 2007). A study by Jeschke *et al*, shows elevated proliferation of villous trophoblastic cells in HELLP placentas is accompanied with an elevation of p53 expression (Jeschke *et al.*, 2006).

Endothelial cells have a role in fluid filtration, homeostasis, hormone trafficking and regulating vascular tone. In a study by Gao *et al*, an upregulation of p53 induced apoptosis and suppressed endothelial cell proliferation in PE, therefore, these mechanisms could result in impaired regulation of vasodilation and vasoconstriction, as well as angiogenesis which could aggravate PE (Gao *et al*, 2016).

These results suggest that elevated levels of p53 and JNK could be released from the placenta into the maternal circulation in PE, and inhibited by HIV infection as a downregulation trend of p53 and JNK was seen, Further studies need to be conducted examining the expression of p53 and JNK in HIV associated PE using placental tissue samples.

The constant generation of potentially damaging oxygen radicals are controlled by anti-oxidants like vitamin C, vitamin E and glutathione. However, these defences are not flawless, and when there is an imbalance between the relative pro-oxidant species (ROS) and anti-oxidants, a state of oxidative stress is reached (Cindrova-Davies, 2009, Sánchez-Aranguren *et al.*, 2014). Also, antioxidant vitamins C and E effectively suppressed markers of oxidative stress, apoptosis as well as phosphorylation of JNK

induced by H/R (Cindrova-Davies *et al.*, 2007). Due to multiple different mechanisms contributing to the development of apoptosis, further studies are needed to clarify the signalling mechanisms of apoptosis in PE before therapeutic treatments can be employed (Levy, 2005).

In conclusion, this study demonstrates a significant increase in p53 expression whilst JNK showed an up-regulation trend in PE, regardless of HIV status. These results support the role for these cell signalling molecules in the pathogenesis of PE. However, based on HIV status a significant down regulation of p53 and a slight decrease of JNK was noted in HIV positive compared to HIV negative group indicating that HIV infection may offer a protective effect against the exaggerated apoptosis associated with PE, however these altered levels may be attributes to HAART. Notably the increase in expression of p53 and JNK in PE, embraces their potential value as a risk indicator in the development of PE, hence further research in this regard is required.

CHAPTER FOUR

REFERENCE

- AAGAARD-TILLERY, K. M., SILVER, R. & DALTON, J. 2006. Immunology of normal pregnancy. Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, 11, 279-295.
- ABUMAREE, M. H., STONE, P. R. & CHAMLEY, L. W. 2006. An in vitro model of human placental trophoblast deportation/shedding. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 12, 687-94.
- ACKERMANN, L. & KLERK, G.W. 2002. Social factors that make South African women vulnerable to HIV infection. *Health Care Women Int*, 23, 163-72.
- ALKEMA, L., CHOU, D., HOGAN, D., ZHANG, S., MOLLER, A.-B., GEMMILL, A., FAT, D. M., BOERMA, T., TEMMERMAN, M., MATHERS, C. & SAY, L. 2016. Global, regional, and national levels and trends in maternal mortality between 1990 and 2015, with scenario-based projections to 2030: a systematic analysis by the UN Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group. *The Lancet*, 387, 462-474.
- ALLAIRE, A. D., BALLENGER, K. A., WELLS, S. R., MCMAHON, M. J. & LESSEY, B. A. 2000. Placental apoptosis in preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol*, 96, 271-6.
- ALY AS, KHANDELWAL M, ZHAO J, MEHMET AH, SAMMEL MD, S., P. & 2004. Neutrophils are stimulated by syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes to generate superoxide radicals in women with preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 190, 252-258.
- ASHCROFT, M., KUBBUTAT, M. H. G. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 1999. Regulation of p53 Function and Stability by Phosphorylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19, 1751-1758.
- BANSAL, A. S., BORA, S. A., SASO, S., SMITH, J. R., JOHNSON, M. R. & THUM, M.-Y. 2012. Mechanism of human chorionic gonadotrophin-mediated immunomodulation in pregnancy. *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology*, 8, 747-753.
- BANASIAK KJ, HADDAD GG. 1998. Hypoxia-induced apoptosis: effect of hypoxic severity and role of p53 in neuronal cell death. *Brain Res*, 797: 295-304.
- BHANA, S., A. HEWER & *ET AL* 2008. p53-dependent global nucleotide excision repair of cisplatininduced intrastrand cross links in human cells. *Mutagenesis*, 23, 131-136.

BOYAJIAN, T., SHAH, P. S. & MURPHY, K. E. 2012. Risk of preeclampsia in HIV-positive pregnant women receiving HAART: a matched cohort study. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can*, 34, 136-41.

BROOKS, C. L. & GU, W. 2010. New insights into p53 activation. Cell Res, 20, 614-21.

- BULMER, J. N. & JOHNSON, P. M. 1985. Immunohistological characterization of the decidual leucocytic infiltrate related to endometrial gland epithelium in early human pregnancy. *Immunology*, 55, 35-44.
- CANO, E., HAZZALIN, C. A. & MAHADEVAN, L. C. 1994. Anisomycin-activated protein kinases p45 and p55 but not mitogen-activated protein kinases ERK-1 and -2 are implicated in the induction of c-fos and c-jun. *Mol Cell Biol*, 14, 7352-62.
- CHAMBERS, J. W. & LOGRASSO, P. V. 2011. Mitochondrial c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling initiates physiological changes resulting in amplification of reactive oxygen species generation. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 16052-62.
- CHANG, L. & KARIN, M. 2001. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. Nature, 410, 37-40.
- CHAUHAN, D., LI, G., HIDESHIMA, T., PODAR, K., MITSIADES, C., MITSIADES, N., MUNSHI, N., KHARBANDA, S. & ANDERSON, K. C. 2003. JNK-dependent release of mitochondrial protein, Smac, during apoptosis in multiple myeloma (MM) cells. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 17593-6.
- CHEN, D., YU, Z. & AL., E. 2006. The p53 pathway promotes efficient mitochondrial DNA base excision repair in colorectal cancer cells. *Cancer Res*, 66, 3485-3494.
- CHEN, Y., HUANG, Y., JIANG, R. & TENG, Y. 2012. Syncytiotrophoblast-derived microparticle shedding in early-onset and late-onset severe pre-eclampsia. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 119, 234-238.
- CHERSICH, M. F. & REES, H. V. 2008. Vulnerability of women in southern Africa to infection with HIV: biological determinants and priority health sector interventions. *Aids*, 22 Suppl 4, S27-40.
- CHEUNG, A. N., SHEN, D. H., KHOO, U. S., CHIU, M. P., TIN, V. P., CHUNG, L. P. & NGAN, H.
 Y. 1999. Immunohistochemical and mutational analysis of p53 tumor suppressor gene in gestational trophoblastic disease: correlation with mdm2, proliferation index, and clinicopathologic parameters. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*, 9, 123-130.

- CHINNAIYAN, A. M. 1999. The apoptosome: heart and soul of the cell death machine. *Neoplasia*, 1, 5-15.
- CINDROVA-DAVIES, T. 2009. Gabor Than Award Lecture 2008: pre-eclampsia from placental oxidative stress to maternal endothelial dysfunction. *Placenta*, 30 Suppl A, S55-65.
- CINDROVA-DAVIES, T., SPASIC-BOSKOVIC, O., JAUNIAUX, E., CHARNOCK-JONES, D. S. & BURTON, G. J. 2007. Nuclear factor-kappa B, p38, and stress-activated protein kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways regulate proinflammatory cytokines and apoptosis in human placental explants in response to oxidative stress: effects of antioxidant vitamins. *Am J Pathol*, 170, 1511-20.
- COCKELL, A. P., LEARMONT, J. G., SMARASON, A. K., REDMAN, C. W., SARGENT, I. L. & POSTON, L. 1997. Human placental syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes impair maternal vascular endothelial function. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 104, 235-40.
- COHEN, P. S., SCHMIDTMAYEROVA, H., DENNIS, J., DUBROVSKY, L., SHERRY, B., WANG, H., BUKRINSKY, M. & TRACEY, K. J. 1997. The critical role of p38 MAP kinase in T cell HIV-1 replication. *Molecular Medicine*, *3*, 339-346.
- COPPAGE, K. H. & SIBAI, B. M. 2005. Treatment of hypertensive complications in pregnancy. *Curr Pharm Des*, 11, 749-57.
- CORY, S. & ADAMS, J. M. 2002. The Bcl2 family: regulators of the cellular life-or-death switch. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 2, 647-56.
- CRAIGIE, R. & BUSHMAN, F. D. 2012. HIV DNA Integration. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 2, a006890.
- CROCKER, I. 2007. Gabor Than Award Lecture 2006: pre-eclampsia and villous trophoblast turnover: perspectives and possibilities. *Placenta*, 28 Suppl A, S4-13.
- CROCKER, I. P., TANSINDA, D. M. & BAKER, P. N. 2004. Altered cell kinetics in cultured placental villous explants in pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. *J Pathol*, 204, 11-8.
- DAHM-DAPHI, J., HUBBE, P., HORVATH, F., EL-AWADY, R. A., BOUFFARD, K. E., POWELL, S. N. & WILLERS, H. 2005. Nonhomologous end-joining of site-specific but not of radiation-

induced DNA double-strand breaks is reduced in the presence of wild-type p53. *Oncogene*, 24, 1663-72.

DAVEY, D. A. & MACGILLIVRAY, I. 1988. The classification and definition of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 158, 892-8.

DAVIS, R. J. 2000. Signal transduction by the JNK group of MAP kinases. Cell, 103, 239-52.

- DEEKS, S. G., OVERBAUGH, J., PHILLIPS, A. & BUCHBINDER, S. 2015. HIV infection. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 1, 15035.
- DEKKER, G. A. & SIBAI, B. M. 1998. Etiology and pathogenesis of preeclampsia: current concepts. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 179, 1359-75.
- DHANASEKARAN, D. & L JOHNSON, G. 2007. MAPKs: Function, regulation, role in cancer and therapeutic targeting.
- DHANASEKARAN, D. N. & REDDY, E. P. 2008. JNK Signaling in Apoptosis. *Oncogene*, 27, 6245-51.
- EDUARDO PAULS, JORDI SENSERRICH, BONAVENTURA CLOTET & ESTÉ., J. A. 2006. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by RNA interference of p53 expression. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 80, 659-667.
- EL-DEIRY, W. S., KERN, S. E., PIETENPOL, J. A., KINZLER, K. W. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1992. Definition of a consensus binding site for p53. *Nat Genet*, 1, 45-9.
- ELLERY PM, CINDROVA-DAVIES T, JAUNIAUX E, FERGUSON-SMITH AC, BURTON GJ.2009. Evidence for transcriptional activity in the syncytiotrophoblast of the human placenta. *Placenta*, 30(4):329-34.
- FAN, M. & CHAMBERS, T. C. 2001. Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in the response of tumor cells to chemotherapy. *Drug Resist Updat*, 4, 253-67.
- FÉVRIER, M., DORGHAM, K. & REBOLLO, A. 2011. CD4(+) T Cell Depletion in Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Infection: Role of Apoptosis. *Viruses*, 3, 586-612.
- FULOP, V., MOK, S. C., GENEST, D. R., GATI, I., DOSZPOD, J. & BERKOWITZ, R. S. 1998. p53, p21, Rb and mdm2 oncoproteins. Expression in normal placenta, partial and complete mole, and choriocarcinoma. *The Journal of reproductive medicine*, 43, 119-127.

- FUNK, W. D., PAK, D. T., KARAS, R. H., WRIGHT, W. E. & SHAY, J. W. 1992. A transcriptionally active DNA-binding site for human p53 protein complexes. *Mol Cell Biol*, 12, 2866-71.
- GAO Q, ZHU X, CHEN J, MAO C, ZHANG L, XU Z. 2016. Upregulation of P53 promoted G1 arrest and apoptosis in human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells from preeclampsia. *Journal of Hypertension*, 34(7):1380-8.
- GONG, J., SHEN, X.-H., CHEN, C., QIU, H. & YANG, R.-G. 2011. Down-regulation of HIV-1 infection by inhibition of the MAPK signaling pathway. *Virologica Sinica*, 26, 114-122.
- GOSWAMI, D., TANNETTA, D. S., MAGEE, L. A., FUCHISAWA, A., REDMAN, C. W., SARGENT, I. L. & VON DADELSZEN, P. 2006. Excess syncytiotrophoblast microparticle shedding is a feature of early-onset pre-eclampsia, but not normotensive intrauterine growth restriction. *Placenta*, 27, 56-61.
- GOVENDER N, NAICKER T, MOODLEY J. 2013. Maternal imbalance between pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors in HIV-infected women with pre-eclampsia. *Cardiovascular Journal of Africa*, 24(5):174-9.
- GREEN, D. R. & KROEMER, G. 2009. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. *Nature*, 458, 1127-1130.
- GREENWAY, A. L., MCPHEE, D. A., ALLEN, K., JOHNSTONE, R., HOLLOWAY, G., MILLS, J.,
 AZAD, A., SANKOVICH, S. & LAMBERT, P. 2002. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type
 1 Nef Binds to Tumor Suppressor p53 and Protects Cells against p53-Mediated Apoptosis. J.
 Virol., 76, 2692-2702.
- GRIFFITH, T. S., BRUNNER, T., FLETCHER, S. M., GREEN, D. R. & FERGUSON, T. A. 1995. Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. *Science*, 270, 1189-92.
- GUDE, N. M., ROBERTS, C. T., KALIONIS, B. & KING, R. G. 2004. Growth and function of the normal human placenta. *Thromb Res*, 114, 397-407.
- GUPTA, A., HASLER, P., GEBHARDT, S., HOLZGREVE, W. & HAHN, S. 2006. Occurrence of neutrophil extracellular DNA traps (NETs) in pre-eclampsia: a link with elevated levels of cellfree DNA? Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1075, 118-22.
- HAIDACHER S, BLASCHITZ A, DESOYE G & G., D. 1995. Cell proliferation and apoptosis: Immunohistochemical evidence of p53 protein in human placenta and choriocarcinoma cell lines. *Hum Reprod*, 10, 983-988.
- HALL, D. 2007a. Is pre-eclampsia is common in patients with HIV/AIDS? Reprod Immunol 76, 75-77.
- HALL, D., GEBHARDT, S., THERON, G. & GROVÉ, D. 2014. Pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension are less common in HIV infected women. *Pregnancy Hypertension: An International Journal of Women's Cardiovascular Health*, 4, 91-96.
- HALL, D. R. 2007b. Is pre-eclampsia less common in patients with HIV/AIDS? *J Reprod Immunol*, 76, 75-7.
- HAMMER, A., BLASCHITZ, A., DAXBOCK, C., WALCHER, W. & DOHR, G. 1999. Fas and Fasligand are expressed in the uteroplacental unit of first-trimester pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol*, 41, 41-51.
- HARRIS, S. L. & LEVINE, A. J. 2005. The p53 pathway: positive and negative feedback loops. Oncogene, 24, 2899-908.
- HAUPT, Y., MAYA, R., KAZAZ, A. & OREN, M. 1997. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature*, 387, 296-9.
- HAYAKAWA, R., HAYAKAWA, T., TAKEDA, K. & ICHIJO, H. 2012. Therapeutic targets in the ASK1-dependent stress signaling pathways. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci*, 88, 434-53.
- HEAZELL, A. E. & CROCKER, I. P. 2008. Live and let die regulation of villous trophoblast apoptosis in normal and abnormal pregnancies. *Placenta*, 29, 772-83.
- HEAZELL, A. E., MOLL, S. J., JONES, C. J., BAKER, P. N. & CROCKER, I. P. 2007. Formation of syncytial knots is increased by hyperoxia, hypoxia and reactive oxygen species. *Placenta*, 28 Suppl A, S33-40.
- HEAZELL, A. E., N. N. TAYLOR, N. N. & ET AL 2009. Does altered oxygenation or reactive oxygen species alter cell turnover of BeWo choriocarcinoma cells? *Reprod Biomed Online*, 18, 111-119.
- HEAZELL, A. E. P., BROWN, L. M. & *ETAL* 2005. Expression of oncoproteins p53 and Mdm2 within trophoblast of normal and pre-eclamptic pregnancies. *J Soc Gynecol Investig*, 12, 362A.

- HEAZELL, A. E. P., BUTTLE, H. R., BAKER, P. N. & CROCKER, I. P. 2008a. Altered Expression of Regulators of Caspase Activity within Trophoblast of Normal Pregnancies and Pregnancies Complicated by Preeclampsia. *Reproductive Sciences*, 15, 1034-1043.
- HEAZELL, A. E. P., LACEY, H. A. & AL., E. 2008b. Effects of oxygen on cell turnover and expression of regulators of apoptosis in human placental trophoblast. *Placenta* 29, 175-186.
- HERZOG, E. M., EGGINK, A. J., REIJNIERSE, A., KERKHOF, M. A. M., DE KRIJGER, R. R., ROKS, A. J. M., REISS, I. K. M., NIGG, A. L., EILERS, P. H. C., STEEGERS, E. A. P. & STEEGERS-THEUNISSEN, R. P. M. 2017. Impact of early- and late-onset preeclampsia on features of placental and newborn vascular health. *Placenta*, 49, 72-79.
- HIBI, M., LIN, A., SMEAL, T., MINDEN, A. & KARIN, M. 1993. Identification of an oncoproteinand UV-responsive protein kinase that binds and potentiates the c-Jun activation domain. *Genes Dev*, 7, 2135-48.
- HOEGH, A. M., TANNETTA, D., SARGENT, I., BORUP, R., NIELSEN, F. C., REDMAN, C., SORENSEN, S. & HVIID, T. V. 2006. Effect of syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membrane treatment on gene expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Bjog*, 113, 1270-9.
- HOLMES, C. B., WOOD, R., BADRI, M., ZILBER, S., WANG, B., MAARTENS, G., ZHENG, H., LU, Z., FREEDBERG, K. A. & LOSINA, E. 2006. CD4 decline and incidence of opportunistic infections in Cape Town, South Africa: implications for prophylaxis and treatment. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 42, 464-9.
- HU, R., ZHOU, S. & LI, X. 2006. Altered Bcl-2 and Bax expression is associated with cultured first trimester human cytotrophoblasts apoptosis induced by hypoxia. *Life Sci*, 79, 351-5.
- HUNG, T.-H., CHEN, S.-F., LO, L.-M., LI, M.-J., YEH, Y.-L. & HSIEH, T. S.-T. A. 2012. Increased Autophagy in Placentas of Intrauterine Growth-Restricted Pregnancies. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e40957.
- HUNG, T.-H., SKEPPER, J. N. & BURTON, G. J. 2001. In Vitro Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Term Human Placenta as a Model for Oxidative Stress in Pathological Pregnancies. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 159, 1031-1043.
- HUNG, T. H. & BURTON, G. J. 2006. Hypoxia and reoxygenation: a possible mechanism for placental oxidative stress in preeclampsia. *Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol*, 45, 189-200.

- HUNG, T. H., CHEN, S. F., LIOU, J. D., HSU, J. J., LI, M. J., YEH, Y. L. & HSIEH, T. T. 2008. Bax, Bak and mitochondrial oxidants are involved in hypoxia-reoxygenation-induced apoptosis in human placenta. *Placenta*, 29, 565-583.
- HUPPERTZ B, FRANK HG, KINGDOM JCP, REISTER F & P., K. 1998. Villous cytotrophoblast regulation of the syncytial apoptotic cascade in the human placenta. *Histochem Cell Bio*, 110, 495-508.
- HUPPERTZ, B. & KINGDOM, J. 2004. Apoptosis in the Trophoblast—Role of Apoptosis in Placental Morphogenesis. *Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation*, 11, 353-362.
- ISHIHARA, N., MATSUO, H., MURAKOSHI, H., LAOAG-FERNANDEZ, J. B., SAMOTO, T. & MARUO, T. 2002. Increased apoptosis in the syncytiotrophoblast in human term placentas complicated by either preeclampsia or intrauterine growth retardation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 186, 158-66.
- JACQUE J M, MANN A & H., E. 1998. Modulation of HIV-1 infectivity by MAPK, a virionassociated kinase. *Embo J*, 17, 2607-2618.
- JESCHKE, U., SCHIESSL, B., MYLONAS, I., KUNZE, S., KUHN, C., SCHULZE, S., FRIESE, K. & MAYR, D. 2006. Expression of the proliferation marker Ki-67 and of p53 tumor protein in trophoblastic tissue of preeclamptic, HELLP, and intrauterine growth-restricted pregnancies. *Int J Gynecol Pathol*, 25, 354-60.
- JOHANSEN, M., REDMAN, C. W., WILKINS, T. & SARGENT, I. L. 1999. Trophoblast deportation in human pregnancy--its relevance for pre-eclampsia. *Placenta*, 20, 531-9.
- JONES, C. J. & FOX, H. 1980. An ultrastructural and ultrahistochemical study of the human placenta in maternal pre-eclampsia. *Placenta*, 1, 61-76.
- KALUMBA, V. M. S., MOODLEY, J. & NAIDOO, T. D. 2013. Is the prevalence of pre-eclampsia affected by HIV/AIDS? A retrospective case–control study. *Cardiovascular Journal of Africa*, 24, 24-27.
- KALYANARAMAN, B. 2013. Teaching the basics of redox biology to medical and graduate students: Oxidants, antioxidants and disease mechanisms. *Redox Biol*, 1, 244-57.

- KARIN, M. 1995. The regulation of AP-1 activity by mitogen-activated protein kinases. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 16483-6.
- KHARBANDA, S., SAXENA, S., YOSHIDA, K., PANDEY, P., KANEKI, M., WANG, Q., CHENG,
 K., CHEN, Y. N., CAMPBELL, A., SUDHA, T., YUAN, Z. M., NARULA, J.,
 WEICHSELBAUM, R., NALIN, C. & KUFE, D. 2000. Translocation of SAPK/JNK to
 mitochondria and interaction with Bcl-x(L) in response to DNA damage. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 322-7.
- KHARFI A, GIGUÈRE Y, DE GRANDPRÉ P, MOUTQUIN J-M, FOREST J-C. 2005. Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) may be a marker of systemic oxidative stress in normotensive and preeclamptic term pregnancies. *Clin Biochem*, 38(8):717-21.
- KNIGHT, M., REDMAN, C. W., LINTON, E. A. & SARGENT, I. L. 1998. Shedding of syncytiotrophoblast microvilli into the maternal circulation in pre-eclamptic pregnancies. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 105, 632-40.
- KOH, D. W., DAWSON, T. M. & DAWSON, V. L. 2005. Mediation of cell death by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1. *Pharmacol Res*, 52, 5-14.
- KROEMER, G., GALLUZZI, L. & BRENNER, C. 2007. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 99-163.
- KRUSE, J. P. & GU, W. 2008. SnapShot: p53 posttranslational modifications. Cell, 133, 930-30.e1.
- KUBBUTAT, M. H., JONES, S. N. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 1997. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. *Nature*, 387, 299-303.
- KUSDRA, L., MCGUIRE, D. & PULLIAM, L. 2002. Changes in monocyte/macrophage neurotoxicity in the era of HAART: implications for HIV-associated dementia. *AIDS*, 16, 31-38.
- LAM, C., LIM, K. H. & KARUMANCHI, S. A. 2005. Circulating angiogenic factors in the pathogenesis and prediction of preeclampsia. *Hypertension*, 46, 1077-85.
- LANE, D. P. 1992. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature, 358, 15-6.
- LE BOUTEILLER, P., PIZZATO, N., BARAKONYI, A. & SOLIER, C. 2003. HLA-G, pre-eclampsia, immunity and vascular events. *J Reprod Immunol*, 59, 219-34.

- LEI, K. & DAVIS, R. J. 2003. JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Bax-dependent apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 2432-7.
- LEUNG DN, SMITH SC, TO KF, SAHOTA DS & PN., B. 2001. Increased placental apoptosis in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 184, 1249–1250.
- LEVINE, A. J. 1997. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell, 88, 323-31.
- LEVY, R. 2005. The role of apoptosis in preeclampsia. Isr Med Assoc J, 7, 178-81.
- LEVY, R., SMITH, S. D., CHANDLER, K., SADOVSKY, Y. & NELSON, D. M. 2000. Apoptosis in human cultured trophoblasts is enhanced by hypoxia and diminished by epidermal growth factor. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 278, C982-8.
- LEVY, R., SMITH, S. D., YUSUF, K., HUETTNER, P. C., KRAUS, F. T., SADOVSKY, Y. & NELSON, D. M. 2002. Trophoblast apoptosis from pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction is associated with enhanced p53 expression. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 186, 1056-61.
- LI, P., NIJHAWAN, D., BUDIHARDJO, I., SRINIVASULA, S. M., AHMAD, M., ALNEMRI, E. S.
 & WANG, X. 1997. Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. *Cell*, 91, 479-89.
- LIANG, S.-H. & CLARKE, M. F. 2001. Regulation of p53 localization. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 268, 2779-2783.
- LONG X, BOLUYT A, HIPOLITO B, LUNDBERG M, ZHENG J, OÍNIEL L, *ET AL*. 1997. P53 and the hypoxia-induced apoptosis of cultured neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. *J Clin Invest*, 99: 2635-43.
- LIN, A. 2003. Activation of the JNK signaling pathway: breaking the brake on apoptosis. *Bioessays*, 25, 17-24.
- LIN, A. & DIBLING, B. 2002. The true face of JNK activation in apoptosis. Aging Cell, 1, 112-6.
- LIU J & A., L. 2005. Role of JNK activation in apoptosis: a double-edged sword. . Cell Res, 15, 36-42.
- LU, W., POCHAMPALLY, R., CHEN, L., TRAIDEJ, M., WANG, Y. & CHEN, J. 2000. Nuclear exclusion of p53 in a subset of tumors requires MDM2 function. *Oncogene*, 19, 232-40.
- LUPPI P & JA, D. 2006. Monocytes of preeclamptic women spontaneously synthesize proinflammatory cytokines. *Clin Immunol* 118, 268–275.

- MACHADO, E. S., KRAUSS, M. R., MEGAZZINI, K., COUTINHO, C. M., KREITCHMANN, R., MELO, V. H., PILOTTO, J. H., CERIOTTO, M., HOFER, C. B., SIBERRY, G. K. & WATTS,
 D. H. 2014. HYPERTENSION, PREECLAMPSIA AND ECLAMPSIA AMONG HIV-INFECTED PREGNANT WOMEN FROM LATIN AMERICA AND CARIBBEAN COUNTRIES. *The Journal of infection*, 68, 572-580.
- MATTHIESEN, L., BERG, G., ERNERUDH, J., EKERFELT, C., JONSSON, Y. & SHARMA, S. 2005. Immunology of preeclampsia. *Chem Immunol Allergy*, 89, 49-61.
- MCCUNE, J. M. 2001. The dynamics of CD4+ T-cell depletion in HIV disease. *Nature*, 410, 974-9.
- MEEKINS, J. W., PIJNENBORG, R., HANSSENS, M., MCFADYEN, I. R. & VAN ASSHE, A. 1994. A study of placental bed spiral arteries and trophoblast invasion in normal and severe preeclamptic pregnancies. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 101, 669-74.
- MIHARA, M., ERSTER, S., ZAIKA, A., PETRENKO, O., CHITTENDEN, T., PANCOSKA, P. & MOLL, U. M. 2003. p53 Has a Direct Apoptogenic Role at the Mitochondria. *Molecular Cell*, 11, 577-590.
- MOIR, S., CHUN, T. W. & FAUCI, A. S. 2011. Pathogenic mechanisms of HIV disease. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 6, 223-48.
- MOLL, S. J., JONES, C. J., CROCKER, I. P., BAKER, P. N. & HEAZELL, A. E. 2007. Epidermal growth factor rescues trophoblast apoptosis induced by reactive oxygen species. *Apoptosis*, 12, 1611-22.
- MOMAND, J., ZAMBETTI, G. P., OLSON, D. C., GEORGE, D. & LEVINE, A. J. 1992. The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. *Cell*, 69, 1237-45.
- NAICKER, T., DORSAMY, E., RAMSURAN, D., BURTON, G. J. & MOODLEY, J. 2013. The Role of Apoptosis on Trophoblast Cell Invasion in the Placental Bed of Normotensive and Preeclamptic Pregnancies. *Hypertension in Pregnancy*, 32, 245-256.
- NALJAYAN, M. V. 2013. NEW DEVELOPMENTS IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF PREECLAMPSIA. 20, 265-70.

NEALE D, DEMASIO K, ILLUZI J, CHAIWORAPONGSA T, ROMERO R, MOR G. 2003. Maternal

serum of women with pre-eclampsia reduces trophoblast cell viability: evidence for an increased sensitivity to Fas-mediated apoptosis. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med*, 13(1): 39-44.

- NELSON, D. M. 1996. Apoptotic changes occur in syncytiotrophoblast of human placental villi where fibrin type fibrinoid is deposited at discontinuities in the villous trophoblast. *Placenta*, 17, 387-91.
- OROZCO, A. F., BISCHOFF, F. Z., HORNE, C., POPEK, E., SIMPSON, J. L. & LEWIS, D. E. 2006. Hypoxia-induced membrane-bound apoptotic DNA particles: potential mechanism of fetal DNA in maternal plasma. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1075, 57-62.
- OTT, M., ROBERTSON, J. D., GOGVADZE, V., ZHIVOTOVSKY, B. & ORRENIUS, S. 2002. Cytochrome c release from mitochondria proceeds by a two-step process. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 1259-63.
- PEARSON, H. 2002. Reproductive immunology: Immunity's pregnant pause. Nature, 420, 265-6.

PRIVES, C. & HALL, P. A. 1999. The p53 pathway. J Pathol, 187, 112-26.

QI, M. & ELION, E. A. 2005. MAP kinase pathways. J Cell Sci, 118, 3569-72.

- QUENBY S, BRAZEAU C, DRAKELEY A, LEWIS-JONES D & G., V. 1998. Oncogene and tumour suppressor gene products during trophoblast differentiation in the first trimester. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 4, 477-481.
- RAMAN, M., CHEN, W. & COBB, M. H. 2007. Differential regulation and properties of MAPKs. *Oncogene*, 26, 3100-12.
- RAMIREZ-AMADOR, V., ESQUIVEL-PEDRAZA, L., SIERRA-MADERO, J., ANAYA-SAAVEDRA, G., GONZALEZ-RAMIREZ, I. & PONCE-DE-LEON, S. 2003. The Changing Clinical Spectrum of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-Related Oral Lesions in 1,000 Consecutive Patients: A 12-Year Study in a Referral Center in Mexico. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 82, 39-50.
- RATTS VS, TAO XJ, WEBSTER CB, SWANSON PE, SMITH SD, BROWNBILL P, *ET AL*. 2000. Expression of BCL-2, BAX and BAK in the trophoblast layer of the term human placenta: a unique model of apoptosis within a syncytium. *Placenta*, 21(4):361-6.

- REDMAN, C. W. & SARGENT, I. L. 2000. Placental debris, oxidative stress and pre-eclampsia. *Placenta*, 21, 597-602.
- RUNIC, R., LOCKWOOD, C. J., MA, Y., DIPASQUALE, B. & GULLER, S. 1996. Expression of Fas ligand by human cytotrophoblasts: implications in placentation and fetal survival. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 81, 3119-3122.
- SAHA, M. N., JIANG, H., YANG, Y., ZHU, X., WANG, X., SCHIMMER, A. D., QIU, L. & CHANG,
 H. 2012. Targeting p53 via JNK Pathway: A Novel Role of RITA for Apoptotic Signaling in
 Multiple Myeloma. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e30215.
- SÁNCHEZ-ARANGUREN, L. C., PRADA, C. E., RIAÑO-MEDINA, C. E. & LOPEZ, M. 2014. Endothelial dysfunction and preeclampsia: role of oxidative stress. *Front Physiol*, 5.
- SANSONE, M., SARNO, L., SACCONE, G., BERGHELLA, V., MARUOTTI, G. M., MIGLIUCCI, A., CAPONE, A. & MARTINELLI, P. 2016. Risk of Preeclampsia in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Pregnant Women. *Obstet Gynecol*, 127, 1027-32.
- SCHMIDT-WESTHAUSEN, A. M., PRIEPKE, F., BERGMANN, F. J. & REICHART, P. A. 2000. Decline in the rate of oral opportunistic infections following introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine*, 29, 336-341.
- SEBITLOANE, H. M., MOODLEY, J. & ESTERHUIZEN, T. M. 2009. Determinants of postpartum infectious complications among HIV uninfected and antiretroviral naive-HIV infected women following vaginal delivery: a prospective cohort study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 145, 158-62.
- SENGUPTA, S., LINKE, S. P., PEDEUX, R., YANG, Q., FARNSWORTH, J., GARFIELD, S. H., VALERIE, K., SHAY, J. W., ELLIS, N. A., WASYLYK, B. & HARRIS, C. C. 2003. BLM helicase-dependent transport of p53 to sites of stalled DNA replication forks modulates homologous recombination. *Embo j*, 22, 1210-22.
- SHARP, A. 2011. The Role of p53 Modulation in Correcting Aberrant Placental Apoptosis in Preeclampsia and IUGR. PhD thesis. University of Manchester.
- SHARP, A. N., HEAZELL, A. E., CROCKER, I. P. & MOR, G. 2010. Placental apoptosis in health and disease. *Am J Reprod Immunol*, 64, 159-69.

- SHARP, A. N., HEAZELL, A. E. P., BACZYK, D., DUNK, C. E., LACEY, H. A., JONES, C. J. P., PERKINS, J. E., KINGDOM, J. C. P., BAKER, P. N. & CROCKER, I. P. 2014. Preeclampsia Is Associated with Alterations in the p53-Pathway in Villous Trophoblast. *PLoS One*, 9.
- SHI, Y. F., XIE, X., ZHAO, C. L., YE, D. F., LU, S. M., HOR, J. J. & PAO, C. C. 1996. Lack of mutation in tumour-suppressor gene p53 in gestational trophoblastic tumours. *Br J Cancer*, 73, 1216-9.
- SILASI, M., COHEN, B., KARUMANCHI, S. A. & RANA, S. 2010. Abnormal placentation, angiogenic factors, and the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am*, 37, 239-53.
- SOLEYMANLOU, N., JURISICOVA, A., WU, Y., CHIJIIWA, M., RAY, J. E., DETMAR, J., TODROS, T., ZAMUDIO, S., POST, M. & CANIGGIA, I. 2007. Hypoxic switch in mitochondrial myeloid cell leukemia factor-1/Mtd apoptotic rheostat contributes to human trophoblast cell death in preeclampsia. *Am J Pathol*, 171, 496-506.
- SOLEYMANLOU, N., WU, Y., WANG, J. X., TODROS, T., IETTA, F., JURISICOVA, A., POST, M. & CANIGGIA, I. 2005. A novel Mtd splice isoform is responsible for trophoblast cell death in pre-eclampsia. *Cell Death Differ*, 12, 441-52.

SOUTH AFRICAN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. 2013. Saving Mothers 2011-

2013: Sixth report on the confidential enquiries into maternal deaths in South Africa.

STATISTICS SOUTH AFRICA. 2016. Statistical release P0302 Mid-year population estimates 2016.

- STRASZEWSKI-CHAVEZ, S. L., ABRAHAMS, V. M. & MOR, G. 2005. The role of apoptosis in the regulation of trophoblast survival and differentiation during pregnancy. *Endocr Rev*, 26, 877-97.
- SUSAN HAUPT, MICHAEL BERGER, ZEHAVIT GOLDBERG & HAUPT., Y. 2003. Apoptosis -The P53 Network *Journal of Cell Science*, 116, 4077-4085.
- SUY, A., MARTINEZ, E., COLL, O., LONCA, M., PALACIO, M., DE LAZZARI, E., LARROUSSE,
 M., MILINKOVIC, A., HERNANDEZ, S., BLANCO, J. L., MALLOLAS, J., LEON, A.,
 VANRELL, J. A. & GATELL, J. M. 2006. Increased risk of pre-eclampsia and fetal death in
 HIV-infected pregnant women receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Aids*, 20, 59-66.

- SZABO, S., MODY, M., ROMERO, R., XU, Y., KARASZI, K., MIHALIK, N., XU, Z., BHATTI, G., FULE, T., HUPUCZI, P., KRENACS, T., RIGO, J., JR., TARCA, A. L., HASSAN, S. S., CHAIWORAPONGSA, T., KOVALSZKY, I., PAPP, Z. & THAN, N. G. 2015. Activation of villous trophoblastic p38 and ERK1/2 signaling pathways in preterm preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. *Pathol Oncol Res*, 21, 659-68.
- TANG C, LIANG J, QIAN J, JIN L, DU M, LI M, ET AL.2014. Opposing role of JNK-p38 kinase and ERK1/2 in hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative damage of human trophoblast-like JEG-3 cells. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Pathology, 7(3):959-68.
- TANNETTA, D. & SARGENT, I. 2013. Placental Disease and the Maternal Syndrome of Preeclampsia: Missing Links? Curr Hypertens Rep, 15, 590-9.
- TEWARI, M., QUAN, L. T., O'ROURKE, K., DESNOYERS, S., ZENG, Z., BEIDLER, D. R., POIRIER, G. G., SALVESEN, G. S. & DIXIT, V. M. 1995. Yama/CPP32 beta, a mammalian homolog of CED-3, is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADPribose) polymerase. *Cell*, 81, 801-9.
- THANNICKAL, V. J. & FANBURG, B. L. 2000. Reactive oxygen species in cell signaling. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 279, L1005-28.
- TJOA, M. L., CINDROVA-DAVIES, T., SPASIC-BOSKOVIC, O., BIANCHI, D. W. & BURTON,G. J. 2006. Trophoblastic oxidative stress and the release of cell-free feto-placental DNA. *Am J Pathol*, 169, 400-4.
- TURJANSKI, A. G., VAQUE, J. P. & GUTKIND, J. S. 2007. MAP kinases and the control of nuclear events. *Oncogene*, 26, 3240-53.
- UCKAN, D., STEELE, A., CHERRY, WANG, B. Y., CHAMIZO, W., KOUTSONIKOLIS, A.,
 GILBERT-BARNESS, E. & GOOD, R. A. 1997. Trophoblasts express Fas ligand: a proposed mechanism for immune privilege in placenta and maternal invasion. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 3, 655-62.
- UNAIDS 2016. Global Aids Update. Switzerland.

- VAILLANCOURT, C., LANOIX, D., BELLEGO, F. L., DAOUD, G. & LAFOND, J. 2009. Involvement of MAPK Signalling in Human Villous Trophoblast Differentiation. *Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 9, 962-973.
- VAN LOO, G., SAELENS, X., VAN GURP, M., MACFARLANE, M., MARTIN, S. J. & VANDENABEELE, P. 2002. The role of mitochondrial factors in apoptosis: a Russian roulette with more than one bullet. *Cell Death Differ*, 9, 1031-42.
- VASSILEV LT, VU BT, GRAVES B, CARVAJAL D, PODLASKI F, FILIPOVIC Z, *ET AL*. 2004. In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science (New York, NY). 303(5659):844-8.
- VASEVA, A. V. & MOLL, U. M. 2009. The mitochondrial p53 pathway. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1787, 414-20.
- VERWOERD, G. R., HALL, D. R., GROVE, D., MARITZ, J. S. & ODENDAAL, H. J. 2002. Primipaternity and duration of exposure to sperm antigens as risk factors for pre-eclampsia. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*, 78, 121-6.
- VON DADELSZEN P, HURST G & CW., R. 1999. Supernatants from co-cultured endothelial cells and syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes activate peripheral blood leukocytes in vitro. *Hum Reprod Biomed Online*, 14, 919-924.

VOUSDEN, K. H. & RYAN, K. M. 2009. p53 and metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer, 9, 691-700.

- WANG, A., RANA, S. & KARUMANCHI, S. A. 2009. Preeclampsia: the role of angiogenic factors in its pathogenesis. *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 24, 147-58.
- WANG, P., YU, J. & ZHANG, L. 2007. The nuclear function of p53 is required for PUMA-mediated apoptosis induced by DNA damage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 4054-4059.
- WESTON, C. R. & DAVIS, R. J. 2002. The JNK signal transduction pathway. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 12, 14-21.

- WESTWICK, J. K., WEITZEL, C., MINDEN, A., KARIN, M. & BRENNER, D. A. 1994. Tumor necrosis factor alpha stimulates AP-1 activity through prolonged activation of the c-Jun kinase. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 26396-401.
- WILLIAMSON, R. D., MCCARTHY, C., MCCARTHY, F. P. & KENNY, L. C. 2017. Oxidative stress in pre-eclampsia; have we been looking in the wrong place? *Pregnancy Hypertens*, 8, 1-5.
- WIMALASUNDERA, R. C., LARBALESTIER, N., SMITH, J. H., DE RUITER, A., MC, G. T. S. A., HUGHES, A. D., POULTER, N., REGAN, L. & TAYLOR, G. P. 2002. Pre-eclampsia, antiretroviral therapy, and immune reconstitution. *Lancet*, 360, 1152-4.
- XIAOYU YANG & GABUZDA., D. 1998. Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Phosphorylates and Regulates the HIV-1 Vif Protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 29879-29887.
- XIONG Y, LIEBERMANN DA, HOLTZMAN EJ, JERONIS S, HOFFMAN B & O., G.-H. 2013. Preeclampsia-associated stresses activate Gadd45a signaling and sFlt-1 in placental explants. *J Cell Physiol*, 228, 362-370.
- XIONG, Y., LIEBERMANN, D. A., HOLTZMAN, E. J., JERONIS, S., HOFFMAN, B. & GEIFMAN-HOLTZMAN, O. 2013. Preeclampsia-associated stresses activate Gadd45a signaling and sFlt-1 in placental explants. *J Cell Physiol*, 228, 362-70.
- YAKOVLEV, A. G., DI GIOVANNI, S., WANG, G., LIU, W., STOICA, B. & FADEN, A. I. 2004. BOK and NOXA are essential mediators of p53-dependent apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 28367-74.
- YANG, X., GUO, L., LI, H., CHEN, X. & TONG, X. 2012. Analysis of the original causes of placental oxidative stress in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: a hypothesis. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med*, 25, 884-8.
- ZHANG, J., VILLAR, J., SUN, W., MERIALDI, M., ABDEL-ALEEM, H., MATHAI, M., ALI, M., YU, K. F., ZAVALETA, N., PURWAR, M., NGUYEN, T. N., CAMPODONICO, L., LANDOULSI, S., LINDHEIMER, M. & CARROLI, G. 2007. Blood pressure dynamics during pregnancy and spontaneous preterm birth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 197, 162.e1-6.

- ZHONG, X. Y., HOLZGREVE, W. & HAHN, S. 2002. The levels of circulatory cell free fetal DNA in maternal plasma are elevated prior to the onset of preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy*, 21, 77-83.
- ZHOU, Y., FISHER, S. J., JANATPOUR, M., GENBACEV, O., DEJANA, E., WHEELOCK, M. & DAMSKY, C. H. 1997. Human cytotrophoblasts adopt a vascular phenotype as they differentiate. A strategy for successful endovascular invasion? *J Clin Invest*, 99, 2139-51.

APPENDIX



Ms Y Pillay (213515235) Discipline of Optics and Imaging School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences yazira123@gmail.com

Dear Ms Pillay

Protocol: The role of c Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and tumour protein p53 in HIV associated pre-eclampsia. Degree: MMedSc BREC reference number: BE204/17

A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application received on 14 March 2017.

The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 10 April 2017.

This approval is valid for one year from 10 April 2017. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the approval expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before the expiry date.

Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior to implementation.

Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2015), South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2006) (if applicable) and with UKZN BREC ethics requirements as contained in the UKZN BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available at <u>http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx.</u>

BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678).

The sub-committee's decision will be **RATIFIED** by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on **09 May 2017.**

We wish you well with this study. We would appreciate receiving copies of all publications arising out of this study.

Yours sincerely

Professor Joyce Tsoka-Gwegweni Chair: Biomedical Research Ethics Committee

cc supervisor: <u>naickera@ukzn.ac.za</u> cc administrator: <u>dudhrajhp@ukzn.ac.za</u>

> Biomedical Research Ethics Committee Professor J Tsoka-Gwegweni (Chair)

Westville Campus, Govan Mbeki Building

Postal Address: Private Bag X54001, Durban 4000

Telephone: +27 (0) 31 260 2486 Facsimile: +27 (0) 31 260 4609 Email: brec@ukzn.ac.za

Medical School

Website: http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx



Howard College

FounJing Campusas 🛛 📾 Edgewood